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This Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, in particular its
Annexes IV, V, XX, XXII and XXX, the Capital Market Act, and the Austrian Stock Exchange Act
(Borsegesetz or the “Stock Exchange Act”). This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all
documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see “Financial statements —
documents incorporated by reference”) and, in relation to any Series of Notes, together with the
relevant Final Terms. This Prospectus should be read and construed on the basis that such documents
are incorporated and form part of the Prospectus.

The Issuer will confirm to any dealer appointed from time to time under the Programme (each a
“Dealer” and together the “Dealers”) that the information contained herein with respect to the Issuer
and the Notes is accurate in all material respects and is not misleading; that any opinions and intentions
expressed herein are honestly held and based on reasonable assumptions; and that there are no other
facts, the omission of which would make any statement, whether fact or opinion, in this Prospectus
misleading in any material respect.

No person is or was authorized to give any information which is not contained in or not consistent with
this Prospectus or any other document entered into in relation to the Programme or any information
supplied by the Issuer or such other information as in the public domain and, if given or made, such
information must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Issuer or the Dealers.

Neither the Arranger nor any Dealer nor any other person mentioned in this Prospectus, excluding the
Issuer, is responsible for the information contained in this Prospectus, or any Final Terms or any other
document incorporated herein by reference, and accordingly, and to the extent permitted by the laws of
any relevant jurisdiction, none of these persons accepts any responsibility for the accuracy and
completeness of the information contained in any of these documents.

This Prospectus as well as any Final Terms reflect the status as of their respective dates of issue. The
delivery of this Prospectus or any Final Terms and the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes may not
be taken as an implication that the information contained in such documents is accurate and complete
subsequent to their respective dates of issue or that there has been no adverse change in the financial
situation of the Issuer since such date or that any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme is accurate at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the
date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Prospectus and any Final Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of Notes in
certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus or any
Final Terms come are required to inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions. For a
description of the restrictions applicable in the United States of America and the European Economic
Area, see “Selling Restrictions”. In particular, the Notes have not been and will not be registered
under the Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other
jurisdiction of the United States. The Notes may be subject to certain requirements under U.S. tax
law. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S and
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and regulations thereunder).

This Prospectus was prepared on the basis that, except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) below may
apply, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which implemented the
Prospectus Directive (each a “Relevant Member State”) will be made pursuant to an exemption under
the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to
publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly, any person making or intending to make an offer
in that Relevant Member State of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this
Prospectus as completed by Final Terms in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so (i) in
circumstances in which no obligation arises for the relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus
pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of
the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer was
approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in
another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State
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and (in either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such
prospectus was subsequently completed by Final Terms which specify that offers may be made other
than pursuant to Article 3 (2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State and such offer
is made in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus
or final terms, as applicable. Except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) above may apply, neither the Issuer
nor any Dealer have authorized, nor do they authorize, the making of any offer of Notes in
circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a
prospectus for such offer.

This Prospectus contains statements regarding the market position of voestalpine. Unless specified
otherwise, such statements regarding voestalpine’s market or competitive position are based on the
Group’s internal market research and voestalpine’s management’s estimates.

This Prospectus and any Final Terms may not be used for the purpose of an offer or solicitation
by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized by the Company
or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF ANY TRANCHE OF NOTES, THE DEALER OR
DEALERS (IF ANY) NAMED AS THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING
ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILIZING MANAGER(S)) IN THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS
MAY OVER-ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO
SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT
WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT
THE STABILIZING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF A
STABILIZING MANAGER) WILL UNDERTAKE STABILIZATION ACTION. ANY
STABILIZATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH
ADEQUATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE RELEVANT
TRANCHE OF NOTES IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY BE ENDED AT ANY TIME, BUT IT
MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF
THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES AND 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE
ALLOTMENT OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES. ANY STABILIZATION
ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY THE RELEVANT
STABILIZING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSON(S) ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY
STABILIZING MANAGER(S)) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND
RULES. EACH DEALER AND/OR EACH FURTHER FINANCIAL INTERMEDIARY
SUBSEQUENTLY RESELLING OR FINALLY PLACING NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE
PROGRAMME IS ENTITLED TO USE THE PROSPECTUS AS SET OUT IN "CONSENT TO
USE THE PROSPECTUS'" BELOW.

The legally binding language of this Prospectus is the English language; except for the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes for specific Series where the legally binding language will be specified in the
applicable Final Terms and except for certain documents incorporated by reference herein as set out
under “Financial statements — documents incorporated by reference’.

In accordance with Article 5 of the Prospectus Directive and section 6 of the Capital Market Act, the
Issuer with respect to the listing of the Programme is obliged, in connection with (i) a public offer of
Notes under the Programme or (ii) the admission to trading of Notes on a regulated market (in
accordance with Directive 2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of April 21, 2004
on markets in financial instruments amending Council Directives 85/611/EEC and 93/6/EEC and
Directive 2000/12/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Council Directive
93/22/EEC) to prepare or procure the preparation of a supplement to this Prospectus or, as the case may
be, publish a new Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent public offer by the Issuer of
Notes under the Programme or admission to trading of such Notes on a regulated market, if there has
occurred any adverse change in the business or financial position of the Issuer or any change in the
information set out under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes”, that is material and is not reflected in
this Prospectus (or any of the documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus).
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In this Prospectus, unless the context otherwise requires,
. “Company” or “Issuer” refers to voestalpine AG;

. “voestalpine Group”, the “Group” or “voestalpine” refer to voestalpine AG and its consoli-
dated subsidiaries at the relevant time.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Prospectus contains certain forward-looking statements relating to the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and strategies, and the industry in which it operates. Forward-looking
statements concern future circumstances and results and include other statements that are not historical
facts, sometimes identified by the words “might”, “will”, “should”, “believes”, “expects”, “predicts”,
“intends”, “projects”, “plans”, “estimates”, “aims”, “foresees”, “anticipates”, “targets”, “seeks”, “pur-
sues”, “goal” and similar expressions. Such statements reflect the Group’s current views with respect to
future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties. In this Prospectus, forward-looking statements
include, inter alia, statements relating to the Group’s implementation of its strategic initiatives, the
development of aspects of the Group’s results of operations, the Group’s competitive position, certain
financial targets the Group has set for itself, the Group’s expectations relating to the impact of risks that
affect its business, including those set forth below under “Risk Factors”, future developments in the
building materials industry (including demand and prices), the Group’s future business development,
financial condition and economic performance, and general economic trends and developments.

The Group bases these forward-looking statements on its current plans, estimates, projections and
expectations. These statements are based on certain assumptions that, although reasonable at this time,
may prove to be erroneous. Investors should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements. Many factors could cause the Group’s actual results, performance or achievements to be
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements that may be expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. These factors include, inter alia, changes in general
economic and business conditions, levels of demand and pricing, changes and volatility in currency
exchange rates and interest rates, changes in raw material and product prices and inability to pass price
increases on to customers, changes in governmental policy, laws and regulations and political and social
conditions, changes in the competitive environment, the success of the Group’s recent acquisitions and
divestitures, other factors that are discussed in more detail under “Risk Factors” below; and factors that
are not known to the Group at this time.

Should one or more of these factors or uncertainties materialize, or should the assumptions underlying
the forward looking statements included in this Prospectus prove incorrect, events described in this
Prospectus might not occur or actual results may deviate materially from those described in this
Prospectus as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected, and the Group may not be able to achieve its
financial targets and strategic objectives. Other than as required by law, the Company does not intend,
and does not assume any obligation, to update the forward-looking statements set forth in this
Prospectus.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
Financial statements - documents incorporated by reference

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company as of, and for the fiscal years ended,
March 31, 2017 and 2016 in the English language (including the notes thereto, the “Audited Consoli-
dated Financial Statements”) extracted from the voestalpine Annual Report 2016/17 and the
voestalpine Annual Report 2015/16, respectively, as set out below, and the unaudited consolidated
financial statements of the Company as of, and for the three-months period ended, June 30, 2017 in the
English language (including the notes thereto, the “Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements”
and together with the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the “Consolidated Financial State-
ments”) extracted from the Company’s First Quarter Report 2017/18, are incorporated by reference into
this Prospectus and are defined herein as the “Documents Incorporated by Reference”. This

1



Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the Documents Incorporated by Reference
which have been previously published and which have been filed with the FMA and shall form part of
this Prospectus.

The Company has prepared the German language Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance
with IFRS. The Audited Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2016/17, as defined below, and the
Audited Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2015/16, as defined below, both in the German
language, were audited by Grant Thornton Unitreu GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungs- und Steuerberatungs-
gesellschaft, Rivergate, Handelskai 92, Gate 2, 7A, A-1200 Vienna, Austria (“Grant Thornton”),
certified public auditor and member of the Austrian Chamber of Chartered Accountants (Kammer der
Wirtschaftstreuhdnder). Grant Thornton rendered unqualified audit reports on the Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Consolidated Financial Statements are translations of the original German
language documents.

Cross reference list

Any information not listed in the cross reference list but included in the Documents Incorporated by
Reference is given for information purposes only. The Documents Incorporated by Reference will be
made available for twelve months from the date of publication of this Prospectus at the Company’s
registered office during usual business hours, see “Documents Available for Inspection” and may also
be inspected on voestalpine’s website (www.voestalpine.com) under the icons “Investors” and
“Financial Statements”. The following sections of the voestalpine First Quarter Report 2017/18, the
voestalpine Annual Report 2016/17 and the voestalpine Annual Report 2015/16 are incorporated by
reference into this Prospectus:

*  voestalpine First Quarter Report 2017/18: the unaudited consolidated financial statements as
of, and for the three-months period ended, June 30, 2017: consolidated statement of financial
position for the first quarter 2017/2018, pages 12-13; consolidated statement of cash flows for
the first quarter 2017/2018, page 14; consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
first quarter 2017/2018, pages 15-16; consolidated statement of changes in equity for the first
quarter 2017/2018, page 17; selected explanatory notes to the consolidated financial
statements for the first quarter 2017/2018, page 18; the first quarter report may also be

inspected on voestalpine’s website under
http://reports.voestalpine.com/1718/qr/1/servicepages/downloads/files/entire_va qrl 1718.pd
f?cat=b;

*  voestalpine Annual Report 2016/17: the audited annual consolidated financial statements as
of, and for the fiscal year ended, March 31, 2017 (the “Audited Annual Consolidated
Financial Statements 2016/17”): consolidated statement of financial position for the year
ended March 31, 2017, pages 86-87; consolidated statement of cash flows 2016/17, page 88;
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 2016/17, page 89; consolidated statement of
changes in equity 2016/17, pages 90-91; notes to the consolidated financial statements
2016/17, pages 92-187; unqualified auditor’s report, pages 188-194; the voestalpine Annual
Report 2016/17 may also be inspected on voestalpine’s website under
http://reports.voestalpine.com/1617/ar/servicepages/downloads/files/entire _va arl617.pdf?cat
=b;

*  voestalpine Annual Report 2015/16: the audited annual consolidated financial statements as
of, and for the year ended, March 31, 2016 (the “Audited Annual Consolidated Financial
Statements 2015/16”): consolidated statement of financial position for the year ended March
31, 2016, pages 88-89; consolidated statement of cash flows 2015/16, page 90; consolidated
statement of comprehensive income 2015/16, page 91; statement of changes in equity
2015/16, pages 92-93; notes to the consolidated financial statements 2015/16, pages 94-195;
unqualified auditor’s report, pages 196-197; the voestalpine Annual Report 2015/16 may also
be inspected on voestalpine’s website under
http://www.voestalpine.com/group/static/sites/group/.downloads/en/publications-2015-
16/2015-16-annual-report.pdf.




Rounding adjustments

As is customary in commercial accounting, some numerical figures (including percentages) in this
Prospectus were rounded to the nearest whole number or tenth of a million (euro). As a result, figures
shown as totals in some tables may not be the exact arithmetic aggregation of the rounded figures that
precede them. Percentages cited in the text, however, were calculated using the actual values rather than
the rounded values. Accordingly, in certain cases it is possible that the percentages in the text differ
from percentages based on the rounded values.

Market and industry data

This Prospectus includes information regarding market share, market position and industry data for the
Group’s lines of business, which consists of estimates based on data and reports compiled by third
parties (such as the World Steel Association) and on the Group’s knowledge of its sales and markets. In
many cases there is no readily available external information (whether from trade associations,
government bodies or other organizations) to validate market-related analyses and estimates, requiring
the Company to rely on internally developed estimates. The Company believes that such data are useful
in helping investors understand the industry in which the Group operates and the Group’s position
within the industry.

The Company confirms that any information provided by third parties was accurately reproduced. So
far as the Company is aware and was able to ascertain from information published by such third parties,
no facts were omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
However, the Company has not independently verified such data. Therefore, neither the Company nor
the Arranger nor any Dealer assume any responsibility for the correctness of any market share, market
position, industry or other third party data included in this Prospectus. In addition, while the Company
believes its internal research to be reliable, such research was not verified by any independent sources.

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

This Prospectus is valid for 12 months following the date of its approval and this Prospectus and any
supplement hereto as well as any Final Terms reflect the status as of their respective dates of issue. This
Prospectus will be published by making available copies free of charge at the Company’s registered
office at voestalpine-Strale 1, 4020 Linz, Austria (Tel: +43-50304-15-0). Copies of the following
documents will be available free of charge at the Company’s registered office during usual business
hours for as long as the Programme remains in effect or any Notes shall be outstanding:

. the Company’s Articles of Association;
. the Consolidated Financial Statements; and
. the Prospectus, any supplement thereto, any document incorporated by reference therein and any

Final Terms prepared in connection with the issue of Notes under the Programme.

In addition, the following documents may be inspected on the Company’s website
(www.voestalpine.com) under the icon “Investors”:

. the Company’s Articles of Association;
. the Consolidated Financial Statements; and
. the Prospectus, any supplement thereto and any Final Terms prepared in connection with the

issue of Notes under the Programme.

These documents and any other information displayed on the Company’s website do not form a part of
this Prospectus nor are they incorporated by reference in this Prospectus, unless explicitly otherwise
stated in this Prospectus.



SUMMARY

Summaries are comprised of disclosure requirements known as “elements”. These elements
are numbered in Sections A — E (A.1 — E.7). This summary contains all of the elements which
are required to be included in a summary for securities and issuers of this kind. As some
elements are not required, there may be gaps in the numbering sequence of the elements. Even
where an element is mandatory for the summary on account of the type of securities and
issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the element. In this
case, a short description of the element is included in the summary together with the words
“not applicable”.

Section A — Introduction and Warnings

A1l Warnings......ceeeeeeeveeneennee. The following summary should be read as an introduction to this
prospectus (the “Prospectus”). Any decision by an investor to
invest in the notes issued under this debt issuance programme (the
“Notes”) should be based on a consideration of the Prospectus as
a whole and the terms and conditions as determined at the time of
offering of a specific tranche of Notes (the “Final Terms”).
Where a claim relating to the information contained in the
Prospectus is brought before a court, a plaintiff investor might,
under the national legislation of the relevant member state of the
European Economic Area, have to bear the costs of translating the
Prospectus and the Final Terms before legal proceedings are
initiated. Civil liability attaches to those persons who have tabled
this summary, including any translation thereof, and applied for its
notification, but only if this summary is misleading, inaccurate or
inconsistent when read together with the other sections of the
Prospectus and the Final Terms or it does not provide, when read
together with the other parts of the Prospectus and the Final
Terms, key information in order to aid investors when considering
whether to invest in the Notes.

A.2  Consent by the Issuer to
the use of the Prospectus
by financial intermediaries . The Issuer gives its express consent to every credit institution,
which is licensed as a financial intermediary in a member state of
the European Economic Area under directive 2006/48/EC,
domiciled in the relevant member state and entitled to issue
securities or distribute notes (“Financial Intermediary”), to use
the Prospectus together with all documents included by reference
and all supplements, if any, for the distribution of Notes in
Austria, Germany and any other country in which the Issuer
notifies the Prospectus. The Issuer assumes liability for the
content of the Prospectus also with regard to a later resale or final
placement of the Notes by the Financial Intermediary. The Issuer
does not assume liability for the acts or omissions of the Financial
Intermediary. Financial Intermediaries are entitled to use the
Prospectus only in accordance with the following provisions.

Indication of the offer
period within subsequent

resale of final placement
of Notes may take place...... The offer period, during which the Financial Intermediaries may

resell or finally place the Notes will be stated in the Final Terms.
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Any other conditions
attached to the consent........

The consent does explicitly not release the Financial
Intermediaries from the duty to comply with the applicable sales
restrictions and other relevant provisions applicable to the
respective offer. The Financial Intermediary shall not be released
from its duty to comply with the legal regulations applicable to it.
The consent will be granted for the respective offer period. The
Issuer reserves the right to revoke its consent with future effect
without having to state any reason for doing so.

[Other conditions attached to the consent which are relevant for
the use of the Prospectus: [®]].

Notice for investor: Financial Intermediaries are required to
inform investors of the conditions of an offer of Notes at the
time the offer is made and it should be stated on the website of
the Financial Intermediary that the Financial Intermediary
uses the Prospectus with the consent of the Issuer and in
accordance with the conditions attached thereto.

Section B — Issuer

B.1

B.2

B.4b

Legal and commercial

Domicile, legal form,
legislation, country of
INCOrpOration.......c.ceeveeneene

Known Trends of the
Issuer and its industries.......

The legal name of the Issuer is voestalpine AG, the commercial
name “voestalpine”.

The Issuer is a joint stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft)
incorporated in Austria under Austrian law with its registered seat
in Linz, Austria.

In 2016, voestalpine observed an increasing trend that the
economy developed independent of, emancipated from and grew
moderately despite extreme political uncertainties such as the
military conflicts in the Middle East, the war in Syria and the
resulting migration flows, the ISIS terror in Europe, the BREXIT
vote in the UK, the election of Donald Trump as president of the
United States, or the attempted coup in Turkey, followed by the
establishment of a presidential system in 2017. Surprisingly, the
challenging political environment has not had a significant
negative impact on this upward trend, at least not yet. In the
business year 2016/17, the North American and the European
economy grew moderately; China returned to its solid growth
route; the turnaround in Brazil delayed yet again.

Demand in many customer segments in 2017 is more uniform and
overall significantly more positive than a year ago: Similar to an
ongoing strong demand from the automotive industry, the positive
development is also supported by sectors such as aircraft, the
consumer goods, white goods, and electrical industries, and parts
of the mechanical engineering sector, as well as signs of a
recovery in the (European) construction industry and an
improvement - primarily volume driven - in the oil and gas sector.
Demand is weaker in the rail sector (infrastructure), especially in
Europe. Conventional energy generation (construction of power




B.5  Description of the Group
and the position of the
Issuer within the Group ......

B.9  Profit forecasts or esti-

B.10 Qualifications in the audit
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B.12 Selected key financial
information .........c..cceeeeeeeee

plants and energy engineering) in Europe has been very modest
for years now as a consequence of the energy transition
(Energiewende). Prices for the primary raw materials used in steel
production (iron ore, coke, coal, scrap and ferro-alloys) are
expected to settle somewhat over the course of the year following
an extremely volatile phase since the fall of 2016.

The Issuer is the parent company of the Group with operations in
the following Divisions: Steel Division, High Performance Metals
Division, Metal Engineering Division and Metal Forming
Division. As a holding company, voestalpine AG has no business
operations of its own, but is responsible for management and
support functions for the Group, including overall strategy and
planning, investment and finance, budgets, treasury, legal
services, mergers and acquisitions and investor and public
relations.

Not applicable. No profit forecasts or estimates are made.

Not applicable. There are no qualifications in the audited
consolidated financial statements.

The following selected consolidated financial data of the Group
have been derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements,
which are incorporated into this Prospectus by reference as of and
for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 and as of and for the
three months ended, June 30, 2017 (the “Consolidated Financial
Statements”).

Three months ended June 30, Year ended March 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016
(in EUR million, except as otherwise noted)
(unaudited) | (audited, except as otherwise noted)

Consolidated Income Statement Data
REVENUE......ooviiiiiiiiiiciicc e 3,251.5 2,772.4 11,2945 11,068.7
COSE OF SALES ..eeeeiiiiiieee ettt e e e e eaneee s -2,467.5 -2,181.1 -8,777.1 -8,631.7
Gross profit 784.0 591.3 2,517.4 2,437.0
Other operating iNCOME ..........cc.coerereeierienieneneeeeeeeeneseeeneeane 128.8 78.6 348.8 362.0
Distribution costs -291.3 -267.8 -1,079.2 -1,028.1
AdmIniStrative EXPenSEeS.......cevverrerrereeierierienereeeeneeseensessesseeeas -158.4 -150.1 -622.3 -610.6
Other Operating EXPeNSes. .......co.evueerereerrerrerienereeeenrersenenseeeenes -140.7 -88.6 -356.0 -424.5
Share of profit of entities consolidated according to the equity
MEHO. ...ttt 6.4 42 14.6 153.0
EBIT 328.8 167.6 823.3 888.8
FINance iNCOME.......c..coeeirieiiniiniinineeicctee e 10.2 13.5 51.5 32.1
FINANCE COSES 1.ttt -46.6 -42.2 -174.9 -169.6
Profit before tax 2924 138.9 699.9 751.3
TAX EXPEIISE ..ceverernteniertiereeireitetenteeie sttt st see e eaennesaeeneeanes -74.0 -33.1 -172.9 -149.2
Profit after tax 2184 105.8 527.0 602.1
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent.............ccccecuevevininenrienencneneeeeee 207.4 101.0 496.8 585.3
Non-controlling iNtErests ..........coeeeereeierierienereeierierese e 54 -0.8 7.7 -5.7
Share planned for to hybrid capital OWNers.........ccceeveevenereennnee. 5.6 5.6 22.5 22.5




Other Financial Data

EBIT margin
Earnings per share (in EUR) .....c..cccocieiiiiinininiiiiciccnieeeee
DEPIECIAtION ...ttt
Net financial debt ..........cccccoeeininiinnnne.
Net financial debt in % of equity (gearing)®.....
Employees (full-time equivalent), end of period..............cccoeuenee.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Data

Cash flows from operating activiti€s ...........coccvveevveveervenerenennnee
Cash flows from investing activities....
Cash flows from financing activities ....................
Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents.
Net exchange differences ..........c.ccoceveeercveniennenne.
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ...........ccceeeeevenereeenneee

513.8
15.8%
328.8
10.1%
1.18
185.0
3,347.2
53.8%
50,047

20.7
-204.8
129.7
-54.4
19.0
4679

3339
12.0%
167.6
6.0%
0.58
166.3
3,188.9
55.9%
48,319

215.6
—284.4
-37.8
-106.6
1.9
670.1

As of June 30,

2017

1,540.7
13.6%
823.3
7.3%
2.84
717.4
3,221.1
53.2%
49,703

1,150.4
-1,049.8
-366.7
-266.1
-5.4
503.3

As of March 31,
2017

1,583.4
14.3%
888.8
8.0%
3.35
694.6
3,079.9
54.5%
48,367

1,282.2
-1,230.0
261.1
3133
-3.0
774.8

2016

(in EUR million, except as otherwise noted)

(unaudited) | (audited, except as otherwise noted)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Data
INON-CUITENE ASSELS «.vvvveeeeieierieeeeeeititeeeeeeeettereeeeeeetaeeeeeeessareeeeeeesssreeesseesssnseeessensrees 8,565.3 8,733.6 8,389.6
CUITENE ASSEES .eeieiieeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e et e e e e e et aeeeeeeseeaaeeeeeeseaaaeeeesessasseeessesasaneeesesannnanes 6,147.8 5,973.9 5,617.0
Total assets 14,713.1 14,707.5 14,006.6
EQUILY vttt s 6,220.8 6,060.3 5,651.6
NON-CUITENE HHADIIIIES ......eeeeeiiee ettt e e e s e ee e e e s eeananes 4,439.1 4,189.9 4,765.5
CUrrent HADIIHES .......eveeviieieeieiciecie ettt ettt ere et e eaesaeereeaeenees 4,053.2 44573 3,589.5
Total equity and liabilities. 14,713.1 14,707.5 14,006.6

@)

2

Source: Consolidated Financial Statements, internal data.

Unaudited, means EBITDA as percentage of revenue.

Unaudited, means net financial debt as percentage of equity.

Significant change in the financial and trading position

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer or significant change in the

financial or trading position of the Group since March 31, 2017.

B.13 Recent developments and
events to a material extent
relevant for the solvency
of the ISSUET e Not applicable. No recent event was to a material extent relevant
for the solvency of the Issuer.
B.14 Statement of dependency
of the Issuer on other
entities within the Group .... As a holding company, the Issuer does not have any operating
activities and, therefore, depends on distributions by its affiliates.
See also B.5.
B.15 Principal activities of the
ISSUET ..oooiiiieeeeeeee voestalpine is a high-quality manufacturer and distributor of a

wide range of steel products, primarily serving customers in the
European automotive, construction & building, general manufac-
turing, the white goods and energy industries and in the railway
industry worldwide.




B.16 Major shareholders -
Ownership and controlling
TI1ES (1] AU According to the announcements available to the Company in
accordance with the notification provisions of the Austrian Stock
Exchange Act (Borsegesetz), the principal shareholders of the
Company as of July31, 2017 were Raiffeisenlandesbank
Oberosterreich Invest GmbH & Co OG, holding more than 10%
and less than 15%, Oberbank AG, holding more than 5% and less
than 10% of the Company’s share capital. The voestalpine
employee  shareholding  scheme  (Mitarbeiterbeteiligung
Privatstiftung) holds approximately 13.4% of the Company’s
share capital and is in accordance with proxies granted to it
empowered to vote in total for approximately 14.5% of the
Company’s share capital.
B.17 Credit ratings of the Issuer
and its debt securities.......... Not applicable. The Issuer and its debt securities are not rated by a
rating agency registered in the European Community or
elsewhere.
Section C - Securities
C.1  Type and the class of the
securities being offered
and/or admitted to trading... Direct, unsecured, unconditional and unsubordinated, [fixed]
[floating] rate debt securities, issued as Series number [®].
Security identification
NUMDET <., ISIN: [e].
C2  Currency ......ccceeveeeveenueennen. The Notes are denominated in [EUR][USD][e].
C.5  Restrictions on free trans-
ferability ........ccocevviennenneene The Notes are bearer securities and in general freely transferable.
Restrictions on transferability can result from applicable
regulations of the clearing systems.
C.8  Rights attached to the

Notes, ranking of the
Notes, limitations to the
rights attached to the

Each noteholder has the right to claim payment of interest and
principal from the Issuer when such payments are due as further
described in element C.9 and such other rights described in this
element C.8 and element C.9.

The Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and
unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu without
any preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all
other unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer,
present or future, save for certain mandatory exceptions provided
by law.




C9

Limitations to the rights
attached to the Notes...........

Early redemption of the
Notes for taxation reasons ..

[Early Redemption at the
option of the Issuer at
specified redemption
amount(s)].ceeeeeeeereeerereeeeennns

Interest, due dates and
redemption, yield,
representation..........ceceeeeee

[Fixed interest Notes...........

Floating Rates Notes...........

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes provide only for certain
events of default entitling noteholders to demand immediate
redemption of the Notes. Investors have no ordinary termination
right.

Certain tax events entitle the Issuer to call and redeem the Notes
(in whole but not in part) at the principal amount of the Notes,
plus accrued interest.

The limitation period for claims in respect of principal of the
Notes is ten years, and in respect of interest three years
respectively, in each case after due date. The Issuer may — subject
to the compliance with certain conditions — without the consent of
the noteholders, replace the Issuer with a company which is
directly or indirectly controlled by the Issuer, as new issuer in
respect of all obligations arising under or in connection with the
Notes, with the effect of releasing the Issuer of all such
obligations.

[If Notes are subject to Early Redemption at the Option of the
Issuer insert: The Issuer may redeem the Notes in its discretion
on certain Call Redemption Period(s).]

Interest

[In case of an issuance of Notes with a fixed interest rate, in-
clude:][Each Note shall bear interest on its then outstanding
principal amount at a rate of [insert interest rate]% (the Interest
Rate) per annum as from (and including) [insert Interest
Commencement Date] (the Interest Commencement Date).
Interest is due and payable [insert Fixed Interest Payment
Period ([annually] or [semi-annually])] in arrears on [insert
Interest Payment Date(s)] of each year (each an Interest
Payment Date). The first payment of interest shall be made on
[insert First Interest Payment Date] [if the First Interest
Payment Date is not the first anniversary of the Interest
Commencement Date, insert: and it shall amount to [insert the
Initial Broken Interest Amount per Specified Denomination].]
[If the Redemption Date is not an Interest Payment Date,
insert: Interest for the period from (and including) [insert the last
Interest Payment Date preceding the Redemption Date] and up
to (but excluding) the Redemption Date shall amount to [insert
the Final Broken Interest Amount per Specified
Denomination].]

[In case of an issuance of Notes with a floating interest rate,
include:][Each Note shall bear interest on its then outstanding
principal amount at the Floating Interest Rate (as defined below)
calculated by the Calculation Agent as from (and including)
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[insert Interest Commencement Date] (the Interest
Commencement Date). Interest will be due and payable [insert
Interest Payment Period] in arrears on each Floating Interest
Payment Date (as defined below).

Floating Interest Payment Date means [insert Floating Interest
Payment Date(s)] in each year [, except for the [first/last]
Floating Interest Payment Date being [insert Relevant Floating
Interest Payment Date]. If any Floating Interest Payment Date
would otherwise fall on a day which is not a bank business day,
such Floating Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the
next day which is a bank business day unless it would thereby fall
into the next calendar month, in which event the Floating Interest
Payment Date shall be the immediately preceding bank business
day. Each period from and including the Interest Commencement
Date to but excluding the first Floating Interest Payment Date and
thereafter from and including each Floating Interest Payment Date
to but excluding the next following Floating Interest Payment
Date is a Floating Interest Period.

Floating Interest Rate for each Floating Interest Period will be
the offered quotation ([EURIBOR][LIBOR][e]) (expressed as a
percentage rate per annum) for [insert Deposit Period] deposits
in [insert currency] for a period equal to that Floating Interest
Period displayed on the Screen Page as of 11:00 a.m. ([insert
Time Location] time) on the Interest Determination Date plus the
Margin (as defined below) [, except for the [first/last] Floating
Interest Period, the Floating Interest Rate will be [insert Relevant
Floating Interest Details] plus the Margin], all as determined by
the Calculation Agent.

[EURIBOR (European Interbank Offered Rate) is the interbank
money market rate for a week as well as one to twelve months
deposits.]

[LIBOR (London Interbank Offered Rate) is the short term
reference interest rate applied in the interbank trade in the
financial centre London, at which a bank grants or lends short-
term deposits.]

[[] is the [*] rate for [*].]

Screen Page means page [insert Screen Page| on the Reuters
Monitor (the Screen Page) or such other screen page of Reuters or
such other information service, which has been designated as the
successor to the Screen Page for the purpose of displaying such
rates.

Margin means [insert Margin] per cent per annum.]

The Notes shall cease to bear interest from the end of the day
which precedes the day on which they are due for redemption. If
the Issuer fails to redeem the Notes when due in accordance with
§ 5 para 1 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the
obligation to pay interest on the outstanding principal amount
shall continue to accrue beyond the due date until (but excluding)
the date of actual redemption of the Notes. Interest shall continue
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Indication of yield...............

Name of representative of
the Holders........ccccocvveenenne.

C.10 Description of the

C.11

influence of the derivative
component on the interest
payments under the
Securities (in case of
Securities with a

derivative component)........

Admission to trading on a
regulated market or
equivalent market ...............

to accrue on the outstanding principal amount from the due date
(inclusive) to the day on which the Notes are redeemed
(exclusive) at the statutory default rate established by § 1000
ABGB.

Redemption

The Notes will be redeemed at their principal amount together
with accrued interest on [insert Redemption Date] (the
Redemption Date) to the extent they have not previously been
redeemed or purchased and cancelled.

[In case of an issuance of Notes with a fixed interest rate, in-
clude:][Yield

Unless in case of an early redemption of the Notes, the yield
equals [®] % per annum.]

[In case of an issuance of Notes with a floating interest rate,
include:] [Yield

Not applicable. The yield of the Notes cannot be calculated as of
the issue date.]

Representation

Pursuant to the Austrian Notes Trustee Act (Kuratorengesetz), a
trustee (Kurator) can be appointed by an Austrian court, upon the
request of any interested party (e.g., a noteholder) or upon the
initiative of the competent court, for the purposes of representing
the common interests of the noteholders in matters concerning
their collective rights.

See also C.8.

See C.9.
Not applicable. The Notes do not have a derivative component.

[If intended to be listed on a stock exchange, include:][It is
intended to apply for listing of the Notes in the [include segment]
of the [include stock exchange.]

[If no listing is intended, include][It is not intended to apply for
listing of the Notes on a stock exchange.]

The Issuer will apply to admission to listing of the Programme on
the Second Regulated Market (Geregelter Freiverkehr) of the
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Vienna Stock Exchange; on January 3, 2018, the Programme will
be transferred to the Official Market (Amtlicher Handel) of the
Vienna Stock Exchange, if the listing requirements are satisfied.

Section D — Risks

D.2

Key information on the
key risks that are specific
to the Issuer or its industry .

e The Group’s business may be affected by cyclical industry
and general economic conditions.

* The Group is exposed to the automotive and other industry
sectors.

* The Group is exposed to fluctuations in prices of raw
materials and energy.

* The Group is exposed to counterparty risks.

*  The Group is exposed to risks in connection with funding.

* As a holding company the Issuer depends on the profitability
of its subsidiaries.

* The Group may have difficulties to attract and to retain highly
qualified management and skilled staff.

» The Group contemplates acquisition opportunities and,
therefore, depends on the ability to manage growth.

* The business as well as increasing the capacity of the Group’s
facilities requires substantial capital investment, thus exposing
the Group to general investment risks.

* The Group operates in highly competitive markets and might
be adversely affected.

* Economic, political, regulatory and local business risks
associated with international sales and operations could
adversely affect the Group’s business.

* The Group operates complex manufacturing facilities and any
manufacturing or business interruptions could adversely affect
the Group’s business.

e The Group is subject to numerous national, local and EU
environmental laws and regulations and may be exposed to
environmental liabilities as a result of its operations.

* Breaches of competition laws may lead to the imposition of
high fines and significant damage claims.

* The Group is subject to legal and tax risk, including the risk of
legal disputes.

* The Group is subject to currency-related risks.

*  Credit risk: The Issuer’s creditworthiness may deteriorate and
the Issuer may become insolvent.

* As the Group has not been assigned a credit rating, investors
need to make their own assessment of the Issuer and bear the
risk of misinterpretation.
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D3

Key information on the
key risks that are specific

to the Notes

The Group depends on undisrupted and access-protected
operation of its computer and IT systems.

The Group could suffer unexpected losses resulting from
inadequate or failed internal control processes.

The Group may be exposed to risks in connection with force
majeure.

The Issuer may be subject to increases in operating and other
expenses beyond its control.

Investors bear the risk of their investment decision.
Market price risk: The price of the Notes may decline.

An illiquid market for the Notes could adversely affect the
market price of the Notes.

Floating rate Notes are exposed to the risk of fluctuating
interest rate levels; fixed rate Notes are each exposed to the
risk that the price of such Note falls as a result of changes in
the market interest rate..

Risks associated with the reform of LIBOR, EURIBOR and
other interest rate ‘benchmarks’.

Holders of Notes denominated in foreign currencies are expo-
sed to currency risks.

In the event that any Notes are redeemed prior to their
maturity, a holder of such Notes may be exposed to risks,
including the risk that his investment will have a lower than
expected yield.

Investors may not be able to reinvest their proceeds of the
Notes at equal conditions.

Transaction costs and fees may reduce the yield of the Notes.

Investors have to rely on the clearing system’s procedures to
receive payments under the Notes.

The Issuer and the Dealers may engage in transactions which
are not in the interest of noteholders or conflicts of interest
may arise between the Issuer and the noteholders for other
reasons.

As voestalpine is not limited in issuing further debt, future
debt issuances may reduce the amount recoverably by
noteholders and increase the likelihood of delayed payments.

Claims towards the Issuer in respect of repayment become
time-barred if not asserted within ten years and in respect of
interest within three years.

Investors may be required to pay taxes and other charges or
duties.

The purchase of Notes financed by loans substantially
increases the risk of losses and is generally to be discouraged.
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* It may not be lawful for prospective investors to purchase the
Notes.

* Payments, including principal, on the Notes to holders and
beneficial owners of interests in the Notes that (i) fail to
comply with tax certifications or identification requirements
or (ii) are financial institutions that fail to comply with the
U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act or any analogous
provisions of non-U.S. laws, including any voluntary
agreements entered into with a taxing authority pursuant
thereto, may be subject to a withholding tax of 30%. The
Issuer is not obligated to make any additional payments in
respect of any such amounts withheld by the Issuer or an
intermediary paying agent.

* As an Austrian court can appoint a trustee (Kurator) for the
Notes to exercise the rights and represent the interests of
noteholders on their behalf, the exercise of rights of
noteholders by a trustee may adversely affect the individual
interests of noteholders.

e There is a risk that trading in the Notes will be suspended,
interrupted or terminated, which may have an adverse effect
on the price of such Notes.

Section E - Offer

E.2b Reasons for the offer and

E3

E.4

E.7

use of proceeds .........cceuueee

Terms and conditions of
the offer ...

Material interest in the
issue/offer including con-
flicting interests .................

Costs for investors...............

[The Issuer makes the offer and intends to use the net proceeds of
the issue of the Notes for general corporate purposes] [®].

The Notes will be issued up to a principal amount of [insert
principal amount] and with a denomination of [insert
denomination].

The Notes will [not] be publicly offered.

The Notes will be offered at [insert pricing details]

[The time period during which the offer will be open is from [e]
to [e].] [The period may be extended or shortened.]

[Other terms and conditions of the offer are [®].]

[insert description of any interest to the issue/offer including
conflicting ones] [Not Applicable. There are no such interests. ]

[Not applicable. The Issuer will not charge any costs, expenses or
taxes directly to the investors in connection with the Notes.]/[®]

[GERMAN TRANSLATION OF THE SUMMARY]
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should carefully review the following risk factors in conjunction with the other
information contained in this Prospectus before making an investment in the Notes issued under the
Programme. If these risks materialize, individually or together with other risks or circumstances, they
may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial
condition. In the Group’s opinion, the risks described below are the most significant risks of which it is
currently aware, but the list does not purport to be exhaustive, and the risks described are not the only
risks to which the Group is exposed. Additional risks not currently known to the Group or that it
currently believes are immaterial may also adversely affect its business, results of operations and
financial condition. Should any of these risks materialize, the trading price of the Notes could decline,
the Company may not be able to fulfill its obligations under the Notes and investors could lose all or a
part of their investment. The order in which the individual risks are presented does not provide an
indication of the likelihood of their occurrence nor of the severity or significance of the individual risks.
Words and expressions defined in the “Terms and Conditions” have the same meaning in this section.

Risks specific to the Issuer
The Group’s business may be affected by cyclical industry and general economic conditions.

Demand for most of the Group’s products, as for steel products generally, is cyclical in nature and
sensitive to general economic conditions. This means that demand for steel and the prices at which steel
can be sold fluctuate considerably. These characteristics are reinforced by the storage cycles of
wholesalers, service centers and end users, who typically overstock steel during periods of economic
recovery and draw on these stocks during periods of economic decline, thus accelerating reductions in
demand. The Group may be significantly affected by changes associated with the steel cycle.

Generally, weak global economic conditions, an economic downturn or a recession or the failure of one
or more market areas or industries important to the Group, such as the automotive industry, to recover
following such events, result in a reduction of the Group’s sales volume or margins and therefore, could
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, the Group may incur unexpected costs and/or expenses as a result of a sustained economic
downturn, such as in connection with the reorganization of production facilities or personnel.

Serious economic downturns also result in tighter credit markets and declining equity markets. These
developments adversely affect the availability, terms and cost of capital. It may become difficult or
impossible for the Issuer to finance its capital expenditures. Its customers may also have difficulty
finding adequate credit to finance purchases, further slowing down sales. Any impairment of the ability
of the Issuer or its customers to refinance existing borrowings or obtain new financing could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group is exposed to the automotive and other industry sectors.

A significant proportion of the Group’s sales are attributable to the automotive, railway, energy,
construction and mechanical engineering industries. A sustained downturn or a recession in any one of
these industries negatively affects the Group’s financial position and could affect strategic goals. One
substantial market segment of the Group is the automotive sector, not only through the Metal Forming
Division, but also in the Steel Division and the High Performance Metals Division. Although demand
and price fluctuations in the automotive cycle tend to be less pronounced than those that affect steel, to
the extent that this materializes, the Group’s results will be more exposed to this cycle. In addition, the
tendency towards consolidation among original equipment manufacturers (“OEMSs”) and the tendency
of OEMs to (re-)insource orders, previously placed to outside suppliers in order to better utilize their
own manpower and facilities could weaken the Group’s position as an automotive supplier and lead to
increased dependence on certain automotive customers.
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The Group is exposed to fluctuations in prices of raw materials and energy.

The Group consumes large volumes of raw materials and energies in its operations. Most important
amongst these materials are iron ore, coke, coal, scrap and ferro-alloys. As a result of the consolidation
on the supply side, the market for iron ore is, according to the Company’s own estimates, now
significantly influenced by a relatively small number of large producers. This has begun to be reflected
in generally higher volatility in prices for raw materials. Because of environmental impacts associated
with the production of coke, relatively few new coke plants have been built in recent years in Europe.

The land-locked position of the Company’s major production sites places it at a relative disadvantage
compared to competitors being located near coastal sites, as it increases the costs of raw material
transports. The Company may not be able to offset these higher raw materials transportation costs
through lower transportation costs of its finished products to its customers.

Many of the raw materials that the Group uses are non-renewable resources. By their nature, several
raw materials become gradually depleted. If the Group needs to locate alternative sources for raw
materials, it may become exposed to higher raw materials prices.

Further, sustained increases in prices for raw materials and manufactured products that cannot be passed
on to the Group’s customers would have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition
and results of operations. In addition, there could be a decrease in demand for the Group’s products, as
customers wait for lower prices before issuing their purchase orders.

The Group is exposed to counterparty risks.

The Group is subject to credit risk of counterparties which become unable to perform contractual
obligations vis-a-vis the Group. Such risk may increase due to worsening economic conditions. The
Group may particularly be affected, if the Group’s major customer’s within a particular industry, such
as in the automotive industry, were to be adversely affected by a sustained economic downturn. The
occurrence of such risk by one major counterparty or by multiple counterparties may have an adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or results in the future.

The Group is exposed to risks in connection with funding.

The Group’s funding for its current businesses and future growth depends in part upon accessing
national and international capital markets as well as upon availability of funding by banks and other
lenders. The continuing ability of the Group to access such funding sources on favorable economic
terms is dependent upon a variety of factors, including factors outside its control. Generally, there can
be no assurance that the Group will continue to be able to access such funding sources, on favorable
terms or at all, in the future.

As a holding company the Issuer depends on the profitability of its subsidiaries.

The Issuer is a holding company and the operative business of the Group is conducted by a number of
direct or indirect subsidiaries. To cover its operating costs, the Issuer relies on, among other things,
distributions that it receives from its subsidiaries and other investment interests or, as the case may be,
scheduled repayments of loans it has granted to its subsidiaries. The distributions by the subsidiaries
depend on the subsidiaries’ operating results and their ability to make those distributions. It cannot be
assured that such funds will always be sufficient in the future to satisfy all of the Issuer’s payment
obligations. If the funds are insufficient, the Issuer would need to obtain additional funds. This could
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may have difficulties to attract and to retain highly qualified management and skilled
staff.

The Company believes that its continued success and ability to implement its strategy will depend
significantly upon its ability to attract highly skilled management, technical, marketing and support
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personnel. Competition for such personnel generally is intense. The Company may from time to time
experience difficulties in locating candidates with appropriate qualifications. Moreover, the Company
must be able to retain such personnel and ensure that they remain abreast of technical developments in
the steel production and processing fields. The Company expends considerable effort and financial
resources to recruit and train new and existing personnel. Failure to attract and retain qualified
personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results
of operations.

The Group contemplates acquisition opportunities and, therefore, depends on the ability to manage
growth.

The Company’s strategy relies to a certain part on its ability to complete strategic acquisitions and to
integrate the acquired activities into its operations successfully. The Company is generally
contemplating acquisition opportunities, particularly in its steel processing activities. To the extent that
the Company is successful in pursuing its acquisition strategy, it expects to incur substantial additional
debt, which will negatively affect its gearing ratio and increase its interest expense, potentially limiting
its operational and financial flexibility.

Moreover, integrating and consolidating the Group’s acquired operations, personnel and information
systems following an acquisition requires the dedication of management resources that may distract
attention from the day-to-day business of the Company and may disrupt key operating activities,
difficulties that may be increased by the necessity of coordinating geographically separated
organizations. These problems may be exacerbated where a relatively large number of relatively small
businesses is acquired. Finally, the benefits of an acquisition may often take considerable time to
develop, and the Company cannot guarantee that any acquisition or series of acquisitions will in fact
produce the intended benefits.

The business as well as increasing the capacity of the Group’s facilities requires substantial capital
investment, thus exposing the Group to general investment risks.

In order to continue to be competitive, the Group needs modern plants and equipment, which besides
acquisitions also involves capital expenditure for maintenance or expanding existing facilities or for
opening new ones (greenfield operations). Increasing capacity is difficult because both adding new
production capacity to an existing plant or a greenfield development project takes between several
months and years to complete and requires significant management and labor resources, capital
expenditure and environmental and other compliance cost. Any and all types of these investments are
connected with additional funding requirements and will entail several risks, e.g., the risk of cost
overrun, sunk costs or costs for the closure of non-profitable production plants, unexpected delays and
legal risks, such as changes in regulatory and environmental laws following an investment and warranty
or damage claims due to deficient construction. If any of these risks materialize this could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operation.

The Group operates in highly competitive markets and might be adversely affected.

The European steel market is highly competitive. Due to high fixed costs related to the steel production,
steel producers tend to, and may have to, make full use of the production capacity of their facilities.
During periods of economic decline or fluctuations in demand, this may result in a significant
oversupply of steel and thus a concurrent decline in steel prices. Currently the European steel market is
characterized by such overcapacity mainly in the commodity segment leading to a decline in steel
prices.

The highly competitive nature of the European steel market is also due to external factors. These
include the developments in China, the increasing consolidation of steel suppliers and customers, the
globalization of the steel market and the relocation of steel customers to other European countries or
other continents.
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In response to these factors, recent consolidation in the European steel sector has led to the creation of a
number of very large producers of steel, each with more extensive global operations than the Group.
Furthermore, a number of its major competitors are pursuing strategies to limit the dependence on sales
of commodity steel products, where competitive pressures are most acute. As a result, competition may
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition or results in the future.

Economic, political, regulatory and local business risks associated with international sales and
operations could adversely affect the Group’s business.

The Group operates mainly in the EU, but also has considerable sales and/or operations in other
countries and regions all over the world, in particular Asia, the NAFTA region and Brazil. As a result,
the Group’s future results could be materially adversely affected by a variety of risks associated with
international sales and operations, including changes in local political or economic conditions, tax laws
or regulatory requirements (including those affecting the use of raw materials, product requirements,
environmental or safety and health standards or labor regulations) and state-imposed restrictions on
repatriation of profits, whether through tax policies or otherwise, in these countries and regions.

In addition, tariffs and other trade restriction such as sanctions imposed on companies doing business
with certain countries (e.g. Iran or Russia) by the EU and/or the United States can adversely affect the
Group. For example, U.S. President Trump has raised the possibility of greater restrictions on
international trade and significant increases to tariffs on goods imported into the U.S. The Group serves
the U.S. market inter alia through exports and may therefore be adversely affected should additional
protectionist measures be adopted by the Trump administration. In April 2017, the Trump
administration initiated investigations into whether foreign-made steel imports pose a risk to U.S.
national security on the basis of the rarely used section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962. The
law allows the president to impose restrictions on imports for reasons of national security. In July, 2017,
an authorization for elective sanctions was enacted related to development of pipelines: the President
may impose sanctions on any person determined by the President to have “knowingly” made an
investment in the export-pipeline infrastructure of Russia, if such investment directly and significantly
contributes to the enhancement of Russia’s ability to construct pipelines, or consists in goods, services,
technology, information, or support that could directly and significantly facilitate the maintenance or
expansion of the construction, modernization, or repair of energy pipelines by Russia. voestalpine
delivers pipes for the construction of the Nord Stream 2 gas pipeline owned by Gazprom (which is
controlled by the Russian state) and could be adversely affected by such sanctions. The necessity to
identify new suppliers as a consequence of such sanctions could have a material adverse effect on the
business of Group companies and, therefore, the Group’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The Group operates complex manufacturing facilities and any manufacturing or business
interruptions could adversely affect the Group’s business.

Steel production and processing may be disrupted by a variety of risks and hazards that are beyond the
control of the Group, including environmental hazards, industrial accidents, strikes, technical failures,
extended interruptions due to fires, explosions, acts of terrorism, industrial accidents at work due to
human error, other accidents and other events causing stoppages, which could lead to shutdowns in
operations. Insurances maintained by the Group may not fully cover the costs associated with such
occurrences. Any damage to the Group’s facilities beyond the amounts of coverage available to the
Group at any time, or prolonged delay in the operations of the facilities for repairs or for other reasons,
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

In addition, with regard to certain steel-making processes, particularly hot wide strip rolling, the
Company operates “‘single-line” production facilities and thus is particularly vulnerable to the effects of
stoppages, including short-term interruptions. To the extent that the Group is unable to shift interrupted
operations to another site, such interruptions could have a disproportionately harmful effect on
production, reducing the volumes the Group is able to ship and increasing costs.

18



The Group is subject to numerous national, local and EU environmental laws and regulations and
may be exposed to environmental liabilities as a result of its operations.

The Group is subject to numerous national, local and EU environmental laws and regulations
concerning, amongst other things, waste water discharges and solid and hazardous waste disposal. Due
to the type and size of its operations, the Group is continuously involved in numerous administrative
proceedings (such as those concerning building permissions, operations licenses and water regulatory
issues), which in part concern issues of environmental compliance. Costs and obligations in connection
with environmental matters are inherent in the Group’s past, present and future operations. Moreover,
future developments in environmental regulations may require the Group to increase capital expenditure
for environmental compliance beyond the levels currently anticipated, or have other unanticipated
effects. Accordingly, environmental costs and liabilities may have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, financial condition or results.

Parallel to production of steel, the byproduct formation (e.g. slags) is an integrated unavoidable process-
step at the Group’s steelmaking facilities. Regulations for opportunities of applications or utilization of
these by-products on the market are in force and will be developed further. Depending on new
application requirements which will be specified in the future, additional by-product-treatment could be
essential and thereby the Group’s production costs could negatively be impacted resulting from such
add-on expenses.

The Group’s operations produce substantial amounts of CO,, a gas believed to be partly responsible for
the greenhouse effect. In the EU, the Group is subject to a cap and trade scheme on CO, emissions, the
EU Emissions Trading Scheme (“ETS”) Manufacturing companies, including voestalpine, have
generally been required to purchase a steadily increasing amount of emission rights which could
increase the Group’s production costs resulting from the necessary purchase of emissions allowances or
the implementation of emissions reduction measures or due to increased energy prices. Therefore,
regulations on CO, could negatively impact the production cost of the Group’s plants, adversely
affecting the Group’s business and results of operations. Both the cap on total annual emissions in the
EU and the amount of emission rights allocated at no cost are gradually reduced. In the event that
voestalpine does not receive sufficient carbon leakage protection, or is not otherwise allocated a
sufficient amount of emission rights in the future, including free emission rights, its costs may
significantly increase. Such costs are also dependent on the price of emission allowances, which is
currently expected to increase. ETS and similar regulations that are implemented in the future, or
amendments to such regimes, including those adopted to implement the 2015 Paris Agreement as
defined below, could place the Group at a competitive disadvantage against companies (e.g. companies
outside the EU) that are not or to a lesser degree subject to such regulations and could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operation.

Breaches of competition laws may lead to the imposition of high fines and significant damage claims.

In the steel industry’s recent past, a series of investigations by competition authorities have been carried
out on both a national and an international level. For example, the German Federal Cartel Office
(Bundeskartellamt) had imposed significant fines on the so-called rail cartel, in which voestalpine
participated and was leniency applicant (Kronzeuge). Similarly, companies of the High Performance
Metals Division of the Group are affected by proceedings of the German Federal Cartel Office that
became known in November 2015, due to searches of the premises of voestalpine’s competitors. As a
result from such investigations and subsequent proceedings the Group may, beside the imposition of
high fines, become subject to significant damage claims. Also, it cannot be excluded that the Group
may in the future become involved in further competition law investigations, in particular in situations
where the Group participates in private and public procurement procedures. In such situations there is a
risk that competition authorities, competitors or contractors may suspect illegal competition restricting
agreements between the participants, and accordingly initiate proceedings. Such proceedings could have
a material adverse effect on the reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations of the
Group.
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The Group is subject to legal and tax risk, including the risk of legal disputes.

In the countries in which it operates, the Group is subject to a variety of ever-stricter laws, regulations
and standards. In addition, as a stock exchange-listed entity, the Issuer is required to comply with
substantial rules, codes and regulations in the realms of corporate governance and securities and
exchange law, which are subject to ongoing amendments and further legislation. Compliance with these
legal rules entails high levels of cost, which could increase even further.

The Group is exposed to risks from changes in tax law in the countries in which it operates. Due to
changes in legislation, jurisprudence, administrative practices, double taxation conventions or the tax
environment in general, the Group may become exposed to a greater tax burden than is currently
expected. Moreover, tax reliefs granted in EU countries could be qualified as state aid.

In the ordinary course of its business, the Group may be involved in legal disputes as a claimant or a
defendant, and may be subject to actions in future or forced to take legal action itself. Legal disputes
entail costs, occupy the time of management and staff for substantial periods.

Any one of these factors could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
condition or results of operation.

The Group is subject to currency-related risks.

The Group is exposed to currency exchange rate risks, primarily to the exchange rate between the euro
and the U.S. dollar. In the 2016/17 fiscal year, the Group’s U.S. dollar costs (relating mainly to raw
materials) exceeded the Group’s U.S. dollar revenues by approximately USD 582 million. Due to the
high U.S. dollar position any movements of the exchange rates between the euro and the U.S. dollar
have an impact on the Group’s results. In addition, the fluctuation in exchange rates other than
euro/U.S. dollar may adversely affect the Company. Increasing disparity between costs and revenue
resulting from exchange rate fluctuation could affect the relative prices at which the Group and its
competitors sell products in the same market as well as the cost of materials the Group requires for its
operations. In addition, fluctuations in currency exchange rates may have a negative impact on demand
in major end markets, such as automotive.

Credit risk: The Issuer’s creditworthiness may deteriorate and the Issuer may become insolvent.

The Issuer’s creditworthiness has a significant effect on the development of the market price of the
Notes. If the Issuer’s creditworthiness deteriorates, this may result in declining market prices of the
issued Notes and, consequently, losses for noteholders.

In case of insolvency, the Issuer may not be able to fulfill its obligations under the Notes and investors
could lose all or a part of their investment. The Notes are not covered by the statutory bank deposit
insurance scheme.

As the Group has not been assigned a credit rating, investors need to make their own assessment of
the Issuer and bear the risk of misinterpretation.

Currently, no credit rating exists for the Issuer. Investors will need to make their own assessment of the
credit of the Issuer and the other factors which may affect the value of the Notes without the benefit of
an independent credit rating. Implied ratings like research publications or analyst reports could create
the impression that the Issuer has been assigned a particular rating. This could result in a
misinterpretation of potential investors of risks associated with the Issuer or the Notes.

The Group depends on undisrupted and access-protected operation of its computer and IT systems.
The Group depends on efficient and uninterrupted operation of its computer and IT systems. Computer
and IT systems are generally susceptible to faults, damage, power failures, computer viruses, fires,

unauthorized attempts by external parties to access them and similar events. For this reason, it cannot be
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ruled out that these systems may be subject to operational disruptions or interruptions. As the Group
operates in a variety of countries outside Austria, the Group relies on the efficient operation of Group-
wide corporate reporting. Any of these systems may be susceptible to outages due to fire, floods, power
loss, telecommunications failures, attacks and similar events. The Group’s systems and those of third
parties on which the Group relies may also be vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins and similar
disruptions. Large-scale cybersecurity attacks have occurred with increasing frequency in recent years.
For example, in May 2017 ransomware known as “WannaCry” attacked over 230,000 computers
worldwide, affecting a wide range of organizations, followed by another global cyber-attack in the end
of June 2017. There can be no assurance that the Group’s information technology security measures
will adequately protect it against cybersecurity incidents. If the Group or its associates are unable to
prevent such attacks, outages and breaches, the operations could be disrupted. If unauthorized parties
gain access to the Group’s information systems or such information is used in an unauthorized manner,
misdirected, lost or stolen during transmission, any theft or misuse of such information could result in,
among other things, unfavorable publicity, governmental inquiry and oversight, difficulty in marketing
the Group’s products and services, allegations by the Group’s customers that the Group has not
performed its contractual obligations, litigation by affected parties and possible financial obligations for
damages related to the theft or misuse of such information. Any of these factors could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operation.

The Group could suffer unexpected losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal control
processes.

The Group employs strict practices with regard to the assessment and control of (information) security
risks. In the design of the processes governing the goods and money flows, strict standards of internal
control have been taken into account and the functioning of these controls is being monitored regularly.
If these control processes nevertheless fail, this could lead to unauthorized operations, theft and fraud,
or processing errors, business interruptions or system failures as well as external risks, including
damage to property and fraudulent intent. Misappropriation of goods or money through mistakes or
fraud could occur, e.g.by business executives receiving or initiating a request to wire or otherwise
transfer funds to bank accounts belonging to criminals, which could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may be exposed to risks in connection with force majeure.

Investors should take into consideration that certain risks exist for losses which cannot be insured (such
as acts of war) or which are not economically sound to be insured (such as losses due to natural
disasters, acts of terrorism etc.).

The Issuer may be subject to increases in operating and other expenses beyond its control.

The Issuer’s operating and other expenses could increase without corresponding increases in turnover
due to factors such as increases in the rate of inflation and currency fluctuations, increases in payroll
expenses and energy costs, increase in the cost of services provided by third party suppliers or changes
in laws, regulation or governmental policies resulting in increased costs for compliance with such laws,
regulations or policies. Such increases could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial
position and its ability to meet its obligations under financing agreements.

Risks relating to the Notes

Investors bear the risk of their investment decision.

Potential investors in Notes issued under the Programme must determine the suitability of such
investment in the light of their own circumstances, in particular their financial resources, investment
expectations, knowledge and experience in financial and business matters and the long-term

commitment regarding the invested capital. Each investor should consult a professional adviser
regarding the risks associated with the Notes before making an investment decision.
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Market price risk: The price of the Notes may decline.

The development of the market prices of the Notes depends on various factors, such as changes of
market interest rate levels, the policies of central banks, overall economic developments, inflation rates,
the lack of or excess demand for the relevant type of Notes, market liquidity and the time remaining to
the redemption date. The holders of Notes are therefore exposed to the risk of an unfavorable
development of the market prices of their Notes. If a noteholder decides to hold the Notes until final
maturity, the Notes will be redeemed at the amount set out in the relevant Final Terms.

An illiquid market for the Notes could adversely affect the market price of the Notes.

Application will be made to list the Programme on a regulated market of the Vienna Stock Exchange
and Notes issued under the Programme may be admitted to trading on the Vienna Stock Exchange, or
any other stock exchange. Regardless of whether the Programme or the Notes are listed or not, there can
be no assurance that a liquid secondary market for the Notes will develop or, if it does develop, that it
will continue. In an illiquid market, investors might not be able to sell their Notes at any time at fair
market prices. The possibility to sell the Notes might additionally be restricted by country-specific
impediments. An inability to sell the Notes at any time at fair market prices could adversely affect the
price of the Notes.

Floating rate Notes are exposed to the risk of fluctuating interest rate levels; fixed rate Notes are
each exposed to the risk that the price of such Note falls as a result of changes in the market interest
rate.

A holder of Notes with a floating interest rate is exposed to the risk of fluctuating interest rate levels
and uncertain interest income. Fluctuating interest rate levels make it impossible to determine the yield
of floating rate Notes in advance and can adversely affect the price of the Notes and lead to losses for
the noteholders if they sell Notes.

A holder of Notes with a fixed interest rate is, on the other hand, exposed to the risk that the price of
such Notes falls as a result of changes in the market interest rate. While the nominal interest rate of
Notes with a fixed interest rate is fixed during the life of such Notes, the current interest rate on the
capital market (market interest rate) typically changes constantly. As the market interest rate changes,
the price of such Notes changes in the opposite direction. If the market interest rate increases, the price
of such Notes typically falls, until the yield of such Notes is approximately equal to the market interest
rate. If the market interest rate falls, the price of Notes with a fixed interest rate typically increases, until
the yield of such Notes is approximately equal to the market interest rate. Noteholders should be aware
that movements of the market interest rate can adversely affect the price of the Notes and can lead to
losses for the noteholders if they sell Notes.

Risks associated with the reform of LIBOR, EURIBOR and other interest rate ‘benchmarks’

The EURIBOR, the LIBOR and other interest rate indices which are deemed to be ‘benchmarks’ are the
subject of recent national, international and other regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some
of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may
cause such ‘benchmarks’ to perform differently than in the past, or to disappear entirely, or have other
consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect
on any Notes linked to such a ‘benchmark’.

On May 17, 2016, the Council of the European Union adopted the EU regulation on indices used as
benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of
investment funds (the “Benchmark Regulation”). The Benchmark Regulation entered into force on
June 30, 2016. Subject to various transitional provisions, the Benchmark Regulation will apply from
January 1, 2018, except that the regime for ‘critical’ benchmarks applies from June 30, 2016. The
Benchmark Regulation will apply to ‘contributors’, ‘administrators’ and ‘users’ of ‘benchmarks’ in the
EU, and will, among other things, (i) require benchmark administrators to be authorized (or, if non-EU-
based, to have satisfied certain ‘equivalence’ conditions in its local jurisdiction, to be ‘recognized’ by
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the authorities of a Member State pending an equivalence decision or to be ‘endorsed’ for such purpose
by an EU competent authority) and to comply with requirements in relation to the administration of
'benchmarks' and (ii) ban the use of 'benchmarks' of unauthorized administrators.

The Benchmark Regulation could have a material impact on Notes linked to a ‘benchmark’ rate or
index, including in any of the following circumstances:

. A rate or index which is a ‘benchmark’ could not be used as such if its administrator does not
obtain authorization or is based in a non-EU jurisdiction which (subject to applicable transitional
provisions) does not satisfy the ‘equivalence’ conditions, is not ‘recognized’ pending such a
decision and is not ‘endorsed’ for such purpose. In such event, depending on the particular
‘benchmark’ and the applicable terms of the Notes, the Notes could be de-listed, adjusted,
redeemed prior to maturity or otherwise impacted; and

. the methodology or other terms of the ‘benchmark’ could be changed in order to comply with the
terms of the Benchmark Regulation, and such changes could have the effect of reducing or
increasing the rate or level or affecting the volatility of the published rate or level, and could lead
to adjustments to the terms of the Notes, including Calculation Agent determination of the rate or
level in its discretion.

Any of the international, national or other proposals for reform or the general increased regulatory
scrutiny of ‘benchmarks’ could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating
in the setting of a ‘benchmark’ and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Such factors
may have the effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to
certain ‘benchmarks’, trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain ‘benchmarks’ or
lead to the disappearance of certain ‘benchmarks’. The disappearance of a ‘benchmark’ or changes in
the manner of administration of a ‘benchmark’ could result in adjustment to the terms and conditions,
early redemption, discretionary valuation by the Calculation Agent, delisting or other consequence in
relation to Notes linked to such ‘benchmark’. Any such consequence can adversely affect the price of
the Notes.

Holders of Notes denominated in foreign currencies are exposed to currency risks.

A holder of a Note denominated in a foreign currency is exposed to the risk of changes in currency
exchange rates which may affect the yield of such Note. A change in the value of any foreign currency
against the euro, for example, will result in a corresponding change in the euro value of a Note
denominated in a currency other than euro. If the underlying exchange rate falls and the value of the
euro correspondingly rises, the price of the Note expressed in euro falls. In addition, government and
monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could
adversely affect an applicable currency exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or
principal than expected, or no interest or principal at all.

In the event that any Notes are redeemed prior to their maturity, a holder of such Notes may be
exposed to risks, including the risk that his investment will have a lower than expected yield

The applicable Final Terms will indicate whether an Issuer may have the right to call the Notes prior to
maturity (an optional call right). The Notes are also subject to redemption at the option of the Issuer (in
whole but not in part) in case of a Tax Event in accordance with § 8(5) of the Terms and Conditions. In
addition, and subject to the conditions set forth in § 8(1), the Notes may be redeemed at the option of
the noteholders in case of the occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined in the Terms and
Conditions). If Notes are redeemed prior to maturity or the Notes are subject to early redemption, a
holder of such Notes is exposed to the risk that, due to early redemption, its investment will have a
lower than expected yield. The Issuer might exercise its optional call right if the yield on comparable
Notes in the capital markets falls, which means that the investor may only be able to reinvest the
redemption proceeds in Notes with a lower yield.
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Investors may not be able to reinvest their proceeds of the Notes at equal conditions.

In case of sales before maturity, redemption at maturity or early redemption of the Notes, there is no
assurance that investors are able to reinvest the proceeds in comparable Notes with an at least equal
yield. The same applies to interest payments.

Transaction costs and fees may reduce the yield of the Notes.

Purchasing, depositing and selling Notes can cause commissions, fees and other transaction costs. The
cost burden can substantially reduce the yield of the Notes and may, in case of small transaction values
be disproportionately high. Potential investors are advised to inform themselves about such costs before
purchasing or selling Notes.

Investors have to rely on the clearing system’s procedures to receive payments under the Notes.

The Notes are represented by a Global Note, which is kept in custody by or on behalf of the clearing
system (OeKB CSD, CBF, CBL or Euroclear; each a “Clearing System”). The Clearing System will
settle purchases and sales of the Notes and maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global
Notes. Noteholders will only be able to trade their beneficial interest through and receive payments via
the Clearing System. As a consequence, noteholders have to rely on the Clearing System’s procedures
for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer to receive payments under the Notes. The
Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of,
beneficial interests in the Global Notes.

The Issuer and the Dealers may engage in transactions which are not in the interest of noteholders,
or conflicts of interest may arise between the Issuer and the noteholders for other reasons.

The interests of the Issuer and the noteholders are not identical and future transactions of the Issuer
directly or indirectly affecting the Notes (e.g. further debt emissions) may have a negative influence on
the development of the Notes’ trading price. The Issuer is not obliged to notify the noteholders of such
transactions and therefore advises noteholders to keep themselves informed on trading price
developments.

In addition, certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in
investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions and may perform services for the Issuer
and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business, which may also affect the Notes.

As voestalpine is not limited in issuing further debt, future debt issuances may reduce the amount
recoverably by noteholders and increase the likelihood of delayed payments.

There is no restriction on the amount of debt which the Issuer may issue which ranks equal or senior to
the obligations under or in connection with the Notes. Such issuance of further debt may reduce the
amount recoverable by the noteholders upon insolvency or winding-up of the Issuer and may increase
the likelihood of delayed payments under the Notes.

Claims towards the Issuer in respect of repayment become time-barred if not asserted within ten
years and in respect of interest within three years.

Claims towards the Issuer for repayment relating to the Notes become time-barred and terminate, if not
asserted within ten years (in respect of repayment) and three years (in respect of interest). The ten year
limitation period in respect of repayment is significantly shorter than the thirty-year-period provided for
under Austrian civil law. There is a risk that holders of Notes will not be able to assert their payment
claims against the Issuer after expiration of the limitation periods.
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Investors may be required to pay taxes and other charges or duties.

Potential investors of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or other
documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes
are transferred to or other jurisdictions. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax
authorities or court decisions may be available for innovative financial instruments such as the Notes.
Potential investors are advised not to rely upon the tax summary contained in this document and/or in
the Final Terms but to consult their own independent tax advisers, if they are in any doubt as to their tax
position with respect to the acquisition, sale and redemption of the Notes. Only these advisers are in a
position to duly consider the specific situation of the potential investor. This investment consideration
has to be read in connection with the section "Taxation" on pages 84 to 91 of this Prospectus.

The purchase of Notes financed by loans substantially increases the risk of losses and is generally to
be discouraged.

Current payments under the Notes may be below any possible loan interest rates. There is no assurance
that the yield or the redemption price of the Notes will be sufficient to pay back loan obligations
(including interest). Purchases of Notes financed by loans substantially increase the risk of losses and
are generally to be discouraged.

It may not be lawful for prospective investors to purchase the Notes.

Neither the Issuer nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates has or assumes responsibility for
the lawfulness of the acquisition of the Notes by a prospective purchaser, under the laws of the
jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction in which it operates, or its compliance with any
applicable laws, regulation or regulatory policy. A prospective purchaser may not rely on the Issuer, the
Dealers or any of their respective affiliates in connection with its determination as to the legality of its
acquisition of the Notes.

Payments, including principal, on the Notes to holders and beneficial owners of interests in the Notes
that (i) fail to comply with tax certifications or identification requirements or (ii) are financial
institutions that fail to comply with the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act or any analogous
provisions of non-U.S. laws, including any voluntary agreements entered into with a taxing authority
pursuant thereto, may be subject to a withholding tax of 30%. The Issuer is not obligated to make
any additional payments in respect of any such amounts withheld by the Issuer or an intermediary

paying agent.

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”), an agreement entered into
with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) pursuant to such sections of the Code, or an
intergovernmental agreement between the United States and another jurisdiction in furtherance of such
sections of the Code (including any non-US laws implementing such an intergovernmental agreement)
(collectively referred to as “FATCA”) may impose a new reporting regime and potentially a 30%
withholding tax. There can be no assurances that the Issuer, a financial intermediary, or the Notes will
not be subject to the requirements imposed under FATCA.

On 29 April 2014, Austria concluded an intergovernmental agreement (Model II) with the United States
in order to facilitate the implementation of FATCA for Austrian financial institutions (i.e. custodial
institutions, depository institutions, investment entities or specific insurance companies) and to allow
the provision of certain information on accounts held by U.S. Persons as defined below to the IRS. U.S.
Persons are considered U.S. citizens or resident individuals, partnerships or corporations organized in
the United States or under the laws of the United States or any State thereof, certain trusts (subject to
the jurisdiction of a court within the United States with one or more U.S. persons having the authority
to control all substantial decisions of the trust) and an estate of a decedent that is a citizen or resident of
the United States (“U.S. Persons”). If the respective U.S. account holder does not allow the financial
institution to forward account specific information to the IRS, the financial institution is still obliged to
forward aggregated information on the account to the IRS and such information may serve as basis for
group requests by the IRS to the Austrian tax administration in order to obtain more specific
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information on such accounts.

There is currently no guidance on the impact of FATCA and the intergovernmental agreement on
Austrian financial institutions and their reporting and withholding responsibilities. In particular, it is not
yet certain how the United States and Austria will implement withholding on “foreign pass-thru
payments” (which may include payments on the Notes) or if such withholding will be required at all.

In the event that an Intermediary is required to deduct a withholding tax on payments on Notes in
compliance with FATCA, no additional amounts will be payable to the holder or beneficial owner of
Notes under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. U.S. Persons are advised to contact their tax
advisor with respect to the consequences of FATCA and the intergovernmental agreement on their
investment.

As an Austrian court can appoint a trustee (Kurator) for the Notes to exercise the rights and
represent the interests of noteholders on their behalf, the exercise of rights of noteholders by a
trustee may adversely affect the individual interests of noteholders.

Pursuant to the Austrian Notes Trustee Act (Kuratorengesetz), a trustee (Kurator) can be appointed by
an Austrian court, upon the request of any interested party (e.g., a noteholder) or upon the initiative of
the competent court, for the purposes of representing the common interests of the noteholders in matters
concerning their collective rights. In particular, this may occur if insolvency proceedings are initiated
against the Issuer, in connection with any amendments to the terms and conditions of the Notes or
changes relating to the Issuer, or under other similar circumstances. If a trustee is appointed, it will
exercise the collective rights and represent the interests of the noteholders and will be entitled to make
statements on their behalf which shall be binding on all noteholders. Where a trustee represents the
interests and exercises the rights of noteholders, this may conflict with or otherwise adversely affect the
interests of individual or all noteholders.

There is a risk that trading in the Notes will be suspended, interrupted or terminated, which may
have an adverse effect on the price of such Notes.

If the Notes are listed on one (or more) markets (which may be regulated or unregulated), the listing of
such Notes may — depending on the rules applicable to such stock exchange — be suspended or
interrupted by the respective stock exchange or a competent regulatory authority upon the occurrence of
a number of reasons, including violation of price limits, breach of statutory provisions, occurrence of
operational problems of the stock exchange or generally if in the regulatory authority’s opinion the
respective issuer’s situation is such that continued trading would be detrimental to the interest of
holders of such Notes or if it deems it required in order to secure a functioning market For example, the
FMA as the competent regulatory authority in case certain issues of Notes are admitted to trading on the
Vienna Stock Exchange is authorized to instruct the exchange to suspend trading in an issuer’s
securities in connection with measures taken against market manipulation and insider trading. The
relevant stock exchange must suspend trading in securities which no longer comply with the rules of the
regulated market unless such step would likely cause significant damage to investors’ interests or the
orderly functioning of the market.

Furthermore, trading in the Notes may be terminated, either upon decision of the stock exchange, a
regulatory authority or upon application by the Issuer. Holders of such Notes should note that the Issuer
has no influence on trading suspension or interruptions (other than where trading in the Notes is
terminated upon the Issuer's decision) and that holders of such Notes in any event must bear the risks
connected therewith. In particular, holders of such Notes may not be able to sell their Notes where
trading is suspended, interrupted or terminated, and the stock exchange quotations of such Notes may
not adequately reflect the market value of such Notes. Furthermore, even if trading in Notes is
suspended, interrupted or terminated, holders of such Notes should note that such measures may neither
be sufficient nor adequate nor in time to prevent price disruptions or to safeguard the holders of such
Notes' interests; for example, where trading in Notes is suspended after price-sensitive information
relating to such Notes has been published, the price of such Notes may already have been adversely
affected. All these risks could, if they materialize, adversely affect the price of the Notes.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME
General

Under this Programme, the Issuer may from time to time issue Notes to one or more of the Dealer(s) (as
defined above) in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the Dealer(s). The total aggregate
principal amount of the Notes from time to time outstanding under the Programme may not at any time
exceed EUR 1,000,000,000 (or nearly equivalent in another currency). The Issuer may increase the
amount of the Programme in accordance with the terms of the Programme Agreement from time to
time.

Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more Dealers. Notes may be distributed by way of
public offers or private placements and, in each case, on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The
method of distribution of each Tranche (as defined below) will be stated in the Final Terms.

Notes will be issued in Tranches, each Tranche consisting of Notes which are identical in all respects.
One or more Tranches, which are expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and are identical
in all respects, but may have different issue dates, interest commencement dates, reoffer prices, issue
prices and dates for first interest payments may form a Series of Notes. Further Notes may be issued as
part of an existing Series. The specific terms of each Tranche will be determined at the time of offering
of such Tranche based on then prevailing market conditions and will be set forth in the relevant Final
Terms as described in more detail below. Each Series will be represented by a global note, without
interest coupons. The Final Terms will be available in electronic form on the website of the Issuer under
www.voestalpine.com (icon “Investors”) and during usual business hours free of charge at the corporate
seat of the Issuer.

Issue Procedure
General

The Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) will agree on the terms and conditions applicable to each
particular Tranche of Notes (the “Conditions”). The Conditions will be constituted by the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes set forth below (the “Terms and Conditions”) as completed by the provisions
of the Final Terms (the “Final Terms”).

As to the binding language of the respective Conditions, the Issuer anticipates that, in general, subject to
any stock exchange or legal requirements applicable from time to time, and unless otherwise agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer:

. in the case of Notes sold and distributed on a syndicated basis, German will be the binding
language; and

. in the case of Notes publicly offered, in whole or in part, in Germany or in Austria, or distributed,
in whole or in part, to non-professional investors in Germany or Austria, German will be the
binding language. If, in the event of such public offer or distribution to non-professional
investors, however, English is chosen as the binding language, a German language translation of
the Conditions will be available from the principal offices of the Paying Agent as specified in the
applicable Final Terms and of the Company.

The provisions of the applicable Final Terms and the Terms and Conditions, taken together, shall
constitute the Conditions. The Conditions will be constituted as follows:

. the blanks in the provisions of the Terms and Conditions which are applicable to the Notes will
be deemed to be completed by the information contained in the Final Terms as if such
information were inserted in the blanks of such provisions;

. the Terms and Conditions will be completed by the text of any provisions of the Final Terms;
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. alternative or optional provisions of the Terms and Conditions as to which the corresponding
provisions of the Final Terms are not completed or are deleted will be deemed to be deleted from
the Terms and Conditions;

and

. all instructions set out in square brackets in the Terms and Conditions and in the Final Terms will
be deemed to be deleted from the Terms and Conditions.

Each Global Note representing the Notes of the relevant Series will have the Final Terms and the Terms
and Conditions attached.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES AND RELATED INFORMATION

ANLEIHEBEDINGUNGEN

§1
Nennbetrag und Stiickelung, Verbriefung,
Clearingsystem

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

§1
Principal Amount and Denomination, Form,
Clearing System

(1) Nennbetrag und Stiickelung. Diese Serie von (1) Principal Amount and Denomination. This Series of

2

2

Schuldverschreibungen der voestalpine AG, Linz,
Republik Osterreich  (Emittentin)  wird am
[Ausgabetag einfiigen] (der Ausgabetag) in
[Wihrung einfiigen] im Gesamtnennbetrag von
[Gesamtnennbetrag einfiigen] (in Worten:
[Gesamtnennbetrag in Worten einfiigen])
begeben und ist eingeteilt in (bis zu) [Anzahl
Schuldverschreibungen einfiigen] an den Inhaber
zahlbare  und  untereinander  gleichrangige
Schuldverschreibungen mit einem Nennbetrag von
jeweils [Stiickelung einfiigen] (die
Schuldverschreibungen; dieser Begriff umfasst
sdmtliche weiteren Schuldverschreibungen, die
gemidll § 11 begeben werden und eine einheitliche
Serie mit den Schuldverschreibungen bilden).

[Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, die
ausschlieBlich durch eine Dauerglobalurkunde
verbrieft sind, einfiigen:

Dauerglobalurkunde. Die Schuldverschreibungen
sind durch eine Dauerglobalurkunde (die
,Dauerglobalurkunde“ oder die ,,Global-
urkunde“) ohne Zinsscheine verbrieft; der
Zinszahlungsanspruch im Zusammenhang mit den
Schuldverschreibungen ist durch die
Dauerglobalurkunde mitverbrieft. Einzelurkunden
und Zinsscheine werden nicht ausgegeben.]

[Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, die
anfinglich durch eine vorliufige Globalurkunde
verbrieft sind, die gegen eine
Dauerglobalurkunde ausgetauscht werden kann,
einfiigen:

Die Schuldverschreibungen sind anfinglich durch
eine vorldufige Globalurkunde (die Vorldufige
Globalurkunde) ohne Zinskupon verbrieft. Die

vorldufige  Globalurkunde wird gegen eine
Dauerglobalurkunde (die Dauerglobalurkunde, die
Vorlaufige Globalurkunde und die
Dauerglobalurkunde gemeinsam die
Globalurkunden und jede fiir sich eine

Globalurkunde) ohne Zinskupon ausgetauscht. Die
Globalurkunden sind von den Vertretern der
Emittentin firmenmifBig gezeichnet und von der
gemdl diesen Anleihebedingungen bestellten
Zahlstelle mit einer Kontrollunterschrift versehen.
Die Globalurkunden stellen eine Sammelurkunde
gemdlB § 24 lit b) Depotgesetz dar. Der Anspruch
auf Ausfolgung einzelner Schuldverschreibungen
oder einzelner Zinsscheine ist ausgeschlossen.

2
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notes is being issued by voestalpine AG, Linz,
Republic of Austria (the Issuer) on [insert Issue
Date] (the Issue Date) in [insert currency] in the
aggregate principal amount of [insert aggregate
principal amount] (in words: [insert aggregate
principal amount in words]) and is divided into
(up to) [insert number of Notes] Notes payable to
the bearer and ranking pari passu among
themselves, with a principal amount of [insert
denomination] each (the Notes; this term includes
any further Notes issued pursuant to § 11 that form
a single series with the Notes).

[In case of Notes which are exclusively
represented by a Permanent Global Note insert:

Permanent Global Note. The Notes are represented
by a permanent global note (the ‘“Permanent
Global Note” or the “Global Note”) without
coupons; the claim for interest payments under the
Notes is represented by the Permanent Global Note.
Definitive Notes and interest coupons will not be
issued.]

[In case of Notes which are initially represented
by a Temporary Global Note, which will be
exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note,
insert:

The Notes are initially represented by a temporary
global note (the Temporary Global Note) without
interest coupons. The Temporary Global Note will
be exchanged for a permanent global note (the
Permanent Global Note, together with the
Temporary Global Note, the Global Notes and each
a Global Note) without interest coupons. The
Global Note shall be signed by the authorized
representatives of the Issuer and shall be
authenticated by the Paying Agent appointed in
accordance with these Terms and Conditions. The
Global Notes shall be deemed a global note
pursuant to § 24 lit b) Depot Act. The right to have
definitive Notes or interest coupons issued is
excluded.



(3) Die Vorldufige Globalurkunde wird an einem Tag (3) The Temporary Global Note shall be exchanged for

“4)

®)

(6)

(der Austauschtag) gegen die Dauerglobalurkunde
ausgetauscht, der nicht mehr als 180 Tage nach dem
Ausgabetag liegt. Der Austauschtag darf nicht
weniger als 40 Tage nach dem Ausgabetag liegen.
Ein solcher Austausch darf nur nach Vorlage von
Bescheinigungen erfolgen, wonach der oder die
wirtschaftliche(n) Eigentimer der Schuldver-
schreibungen  keine  U.S.-Person(en) ist/sind
(ausgenommen bestimmte Finanzinstitute oder
bestimmte Personen, die Schuldverschreibungen
iiber solche Finanzinstitute halten gemidl dem
United States Internal Revenue Code 1986, in

derzeit  geltender  Fassung). Solange die
Schuldverschreibungen durch die Vorldufige
Globalurkunde verbrieft sind, werden
Zinszahlungen erst nach Vorlage solcher

Bescheinigungen vorgenommen. Eine gesonderte
Bescheinigung ist fiir jede solche Zinszahlung
erforderlich. Jede Bescheinigung, die am oder nach
dem 40. Tag nach dem Ausgabetag eingeht, wird als
ein Ersuchen behandelt werden, die Vorldufige
Globalurkunde gemifl diesem § 1 Absatz 3
auszutauschen. Schuldverschreibungen, die im
Austausch fiir die Vorldaufige Globalurkunde
geliefert werden, dirfen nur auferhalb der
Vereinigten Staaten geliefert werden.]

Die Globalurkunden werden
einem oder im Namen eines
Clearingsystems verwabhrt, bis samtliche
Verbindlichkeiten der Emittentin aus den
Schuldverschreibungen erfiillt sind.
,Clearingsystem* bedeutet [bei mehr als einem
Clearingsystem einfiigen: jeweils] folgendes:
[Clearstream Banking AG, Frankfurt am Main
(CBF)] [Clearstream Banking, société anonyme,
Luxemburg (CBL)] [Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.
Briissel, als Betreiberin des Euroclear Systems
(Euroclear)] [OeKB CSD GmbH (OeKB CSD)] [,]
[und] [anderes Clearingsystem angeben] sowie
jeder Funktionsnachfolger.

Clearingsystem.
solange von

Anleihegliubiger. Den Inhabern der
Schuldverschreibungen (die  Anleihegldubiger)
stehen Miteigentumsanteile an den Globalurkunden
zu, die ausschlieBlich gemif3 den Vorschriften des
Clearingsystems iibertragen werden konnen.

ISIN[, sonstige Wertpapierkennnummer]. Die
Wertpapierkennnummer (International Securities
Identification Number oder ISIN) lautet [ISIN
einfiigen]. [Die [sonstige Wertpapier-
kennnummer[n]] laute[t][n] [®].]

“

&)

(6)
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the Permanent Global Note on a date (the Exchange
Date) not later than 180 days after the issue date.
The Exchange Date will not be earlier than 40 days
after the issue Date. Such exchange shall only be
made upon delivery of certifications to the effect
that the beneficial owner or owners of the Notes
is/fare not (a) U.S. person(s) (other than certain
financial institutions or certain persons holding
Notes through such financial institutions as defined
in the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended). Payment of interest on Notes
represented by a Temporary Global Note shall be
made only after delivery of such certifications. A
separate certification shall be required in respect of
each such payment of interest. Any such
certification received on or after the 40th day after
the issue Date shall be treated as a request to
exchange the Temporary Global Note pursuant to
this § 1 paragraph 3. Any Notes delivered in
exchange for the Temporary Global Note shall be
delivered only outside of the United States.]

Clearing System. The Global Notes will be kept in
custody by or on behalf of the Clearing System until
all obligations of the Issuer under the Notes have
been satisfied. “Clearing System” means [if more
than one Clearing System insert: each of] the
following: [Clearstream Banking AG, Frankfurt am
Main (CBF)] [Clearstream Banking, société
anonyme, Luxembourg (CBL)] [Euroclear Bank
S.A/N.V. Brussels, as operator of the Euroclear
System (Euroclear)] [OeKB CSD GmbH (OeKB
CSD)] [,] [and] [specify other Clearing System] as
well as each successor.

Holder of Notes. The holders of Notes (the Holders)
hold proportionate co-ownership interests in the
Global Notes, which are transferable exclusively
pursuant to the conditions of the Clearing System.

ISIN|[, other securities code]. The ISIN Code
(International Securities Identification Number or
ISIN) is [insert ISIN]. [The [insert other
securities code[s]] [is][are] [®].]
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§2

Status der Schuldverschreibungen

Status der Schuldverschreibungen. Die
Schuldverschreibungen begriinden unmittelbare,
unbedingte, nicht nachrangige und (vorbehaltlich
der Bestimmungen des § 3) nicht besicherte
Verbindlichkeiten der Emittentin und stehen im
gleichen Rang untereinander und mindestens im
gleichen Rang mit allen anderen gegenwértigen und

zukiinftigen nicht nachrangigen und nicht
besicherten Verbindlichkeiten der Emittentin,
soweit bestimmte zwingende gesetzliche

Bestimmungen nichts anderes vorschreiben.

§3

Negativerklirung

Negativerkldrung. Solange Schuldverschreibungen
ausstehen, jedoch nur bis zu dem Zeitpunkt, an dem
alle Betrige an Kapital und Zinsen der Zahlstelle
zur Verfiigung gestellt worden sind, wird die
Emittentin keine Grund- und Mobiliarpfandrechte,
sonstige Pfandrechte oder dingliche Sicherheiten
(jedes ein Sicherungsrecht) in Bezug auf ihr
gesamtes Vermogen oder Teile davon zur Sicherung
von anderen Kapitalmarktverbindlichkeiten (wie
nachstehend definiert) gewihren, ohne gleichzeitig
die Anleiheglaubiger gleichrangig an einem solchen
Sicherungsrecht zu beteiligen oder ihnen ein
gleichwertiges Sicherungsrecht zu gewihren; diese
Verpflichtung gilt jedoch nicht fiir zum Zeitpunkt
des Erwerbs von Vermogenswerten durch die
Emittentin bereits an solchen Vermogenswerten
bestehende  Sicherungsrechte, soweit  solche
Sicherungsrechte nicht im Zusammenhang mit dem
Erwerb oder in Erwartung des Erwerbs des
jeweiligen Vermogenswerts bestellt wurden und der
durch das Sicherungsrecht besicherte Betrag nicht
nach Erwerb des betreffenden Vermogenswertes
erhoht wird.

(2) Kapitalmarktverbindlichkeit. Fiir Zwecke dieses § 3

bedeutet Kapitalmarktverbindlichkeit jede
bestehende oder zukiinftige Verbindlichkeit (gleich
ob Kapital, Aufgeld, Zinsen oder andere Betrige)
der Emittentin oder einer ihrer
Tochtergesellschaften beziiglich Geldaufnahmen in
Form von, oder verbrieft durch,
Schuldverschreibungen, Anleihen oder &#hnliche
borsenfihige Instrumente, jeweils unabhédngig
davon ob diese an einer Borse gelistet sind oder
nicht; um etwaige Zweifel auszuschlieBen, gelten

Schuldscheindarlehen nicht als
Kapitalmarktverbindlichkeit und standardisierte
Sicherheitenbestellungen fir

Forderungsverbriefungsprogramme (Asset Backed
Securities Transaktionen) nicht als Sicherungsrecht
im Sinne dieses § 3.

ey
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§2
Status of the Notes

Status of the Notes. The Notes constitute direct,
unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the
provisions of § 3) unsecured obligations of the
Issuer and rank pari passu without any preference
among themselves and at least pari passu with all
other unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of
the Issuer, present or future, save for certain
mandatory exceptions provided by law.

§3
Negative Pledge

Negative Pledge. So long as Notes are outstanding,
but only up to the time all amounts of principal and
interest have been placed at the disposal of the
Paying Agent, the Issuer shall not provide any
mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other form of in
rem encumbrance (each a Security Interest) over
the whole or any part of its assets to secure any
Capital Market Indebtedness (as defined below)
without at the same time letting the Holders share
pari passu in such Security Interest or giving to the
Holders an equivalent Security Interest, provided,
however, that this undertaking shall not apply with
respect to any Security Interest existing on property
at the time of the acquisition thereof by the Issuer,
provided that such Security Interest was not created
in connection with or in contemplation of such
acquisition and that the amount secured by such
Security Interest is not increased subsequently to the
acquisition of the relevant property.

Capital Market Indebtedness. For the purposes of
this § 3, Capital Market Indebtedness shall mean
any present or future indebtedness (whether being
principal, premium, interest or other amounts) of the
Issuer or any of its subsidiaries in respect of
borrowed money which is in the form of, or
represented by, bonds, notes or similar negotiable
securities, in each case irrespective of whether listed
on a stock exchange or not; for the avoidance of
doubt, for purposes of this § 3 the term Capital
Market Indebtedness shall not pertain to bonded
loans (Schuldscheindarlehen) and the term Security
Interest shall not pertain to a standardized granting
of security in connection with securitization
programmes (asset backed securities transactions).



§4 §4
Verzinsung Interest
[Im Fall von fix verzinslichen Schuld- [In case of an issuance of Notes with a fixed

verschreibungen einfiigen:][ interest rate, include:][

(1a)Verzinsung. Der jeweils ausstehende Nennbetrag der (la) Interest. Each Note shall bear interest on its then

Schuldverschreibungen wird ab und einschlieBlich
dem [Verzinsungsbeginn einfiigen] (der
Verzinsungsbeginn) mit [Zinssatz einfiigen]% (der
Zinssatz) jéhrlich verzinst. Die Zinsen sind [Fixen
Zinszahlzeitraum ([jahrlich] oder [halbjahrlich])
einfiigen]  nachtriaglich am  [Zinszahltag(e)
einfiigen] jeden Jahres (jeweils ein
Zinszahlungstag), fillig und zahlbar. Die erste
Zinszahlung erfolgt am [Ersten Zinszahlungstag
einfiigen] [sofern der Erste Zinszahlungstag
nicht der erste Jahrestag des Verzinsungsbeginns
ist, einfiigen: und beldauft sich auf [den
Anfanglichen Bruchteilzinsbetrag je festgelegte
Stiickelung einfiigen].] [Sofern der Filligkeitstag
kein Zinszahltag ist, einfiigen: Die Zinsen fiir den
Zeitraum vom [den letzten dem Filligkeitstag

vorausgehenden Zinszahltag einfiigen]
(einschlieBlich) bis zum Filligkeitstag
(ausschlieBlich)  belaufen sich auf [den
AbschlieBenden Bruchteilzinsbetrag je
Festgelegte Stiickelung einfiigen].]
(1b)Zinsberechnung.  Jeder  Zeitraum ab  dem

Verzinsungsbeginn (einschlieBlich) bis zum ersten
Zinszahlungstag (ausschlieflich) und nachfolgend
ab jedem Zinszahlungstag (einschlieflich) bis zu

dem jeweils nichstfolgenden Zinszahlungstag
(ausschlieBlich) wird als Zinsperiode bezeichnet.
Der auf die Schuldverschreibungen fillige

Zinsbetrag (der Zinsbetrag) fir jede Zinsperiode
ergibt sich aus der Multiplikation des Zinssatzes mit
dem Zinstagequotient (wie nachstehend definiert)
und dem Nennbetrag je Schuldverschreibung, wobei
der resultierende Betrag auf den nidchstliegenden
Cent auf- bzw. abgerundet wird, wobei 0,5 oder
mehr eines Cents aufgerundet werden. ]

[Im Fall von variabel verzinslichen
Schuldverschreibungen einfiigen: ][

(1a) Verzinsung. Der jeweils ausstehende Nennbetrag

der  Schuldverschreibungen  wird ab  und
einschlieBlich dem [Verzinsungsbeginn einfiigen]
(der Verzinsungsbeginn) zu dem von der

Berechnungsstelle bestimmten Variablen Zinssatz
(wie nachstehend definiert) verzinst. Zinsen werden
jeweils [Zinszahlzeitraum einfiigen] nachtriglich

an jedem Variablen Zinszahlungstag (wie
nachstehend definiert) fillig und zahlbar.
Variabler ~ Zinszahlungstag  bezeichnet den

[Variable(n) Zinszahlungstag(e) einfiigen] eines
jeden Jahres [, mit Ausnahme des [ersten/letzten]
Variablen Zinszahlungstages am [Relevanten

outstanding principal amount at a rate of [insert
interest rate]% (the Interest Rate) per annum as

from (and including) [insert Interest
Commencement Date] (the Interest
Commencement Date). Interest is due and payable
[insert Fixed Interest Payment Period

([annually] or [semi-annually])] in arrears on
[insert Interest Payment Date(s)] of each year
(each an Interest Payment Date). The first payment
of interest shall be made on [insert First Interest
Payment Date] [if the First Interest Payment
Date is not the first anniversary of the Interest
Commencement Date, insert: and it shall amount
to [insert the Initial Broken Interest Amount per
Specified Denomination].] [If the Redemption
Date is not an Interest Payment Date, insert:
Interest for the period from (and including) [insert
the last Interest Payment Date preceding the
Redemption Date] and up to (but excluding) the
Redemption Date shall amount to [insert the Final
Broken Interest Amount per Specified
Denomination].]

(1b) Calculation of interest. Each period from and

including the Interest Commencement Date to but
excluding the first Interest Payment Date and
thereafter from and including each Interest Payment
Date to but excluding the next following Interest
Payment Date is an Interest Period. The amount of
interest payable on the Notes (the Interest Amount)
for each Interest Period shall be calculated by
multiplying the Interest Rate and the Day Count
Fraction (as defined below) with the principal
amount of each Note and rounding the resulting
figure to the nearest cent, with 0.5 or more of a cent
being rounded upwards.]

[In case of an issuance of Notes with a floating
interest rate, include:][

(1a) Interest. Each Note shall bear interest on its then
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outstanding principal amount at the Floating Interest
Rate (as defined below) calculated by the
Calculation Agent as from (and including) [insert
Interest Commencement Date] (the Interest
Commencement Date). Interest will be due and
payable [insert Interest Payment Period] in
arrears on each Floating Interest Payment Date (as
defined below).

Floating Interest Payment Date means [insert
Floating Interest Payment Date(s)] in each year [,
except for the [first/last] Floating Interest Payment
Date being [insert Relevant Floating Interest



Variablen Zinszahlungstag einfiigen]. Falls ein
Variabler Zinszahlungstag auf einen Tag, der kein
Bankarbeitstag ist, fillt, wird dieser Variable
Zinszahlungstag ~ auf  den  nichstfolgenden
Bankarbeitstag verschoben, es sei denn, jener wiirde
dadurch in den nidchsten Kalendermonat fallen; in
diesem Fall wird der Variable Zinszahlungstag auf
den unmittelbar vorausgehenden
Bankarbeitstagvorgezogen. Jeder Zeitraum ab dem
Verzinsungsbeginn (einschlieBlich) bis zum ersten
Variablen Zinszahlungstag (ausschlieBlich) und
nachfolgend ab jedem Variablen Zinszahlungstag
(einschlieBlich) bis zu dem jeweils ndchstfolgenden
Variablen Zinszahlungstag (ausschlieBlich) wird als
Variable Zinsperiode bezeichnet.

Der Variable Zinssatz fir die jeweilige Variable
Zinsperiode berechnet sich aus dem Angebotssatz
([EURIBOR][LIBOR][®]) (ausgedriickt als
Prozentsatz per annum) fiir [Veranlagungs-
zeitraum einfiigen] FEinlagen in [Wihrung
einfiigen] fiir einen dieser Variablen Zinsperiode
entsprechenden Zeitraum, der am
Zinsfestsetzungstag um 11:00 Uhr vormittags
([Ortszeit  einfiigen] Ortszeit) auf  der
Bildschirmseite angegeben wird, zuziiglich der
Marge (wie nachstehend definiert) [, mit Ausnahme
der [ersten/letzten] Variablen Zinsperiode, in
welcher der Variable Zinssatz [Relevante Variable
Zinsen Details einfiigen] zuziiglich der Marge],
wobei alle Festlegungen durch die
Berechnungsstelle erfolgen.

[Falls der Angebotssatz der EURIBOR ist,
einfiigen:] [Der EURIBOR (European Interbank
Offered Rate) ist der Interbanken Geldmarktsatz
fir eine Woche, sowie ein bis zwolf
Monatsgelder.] [Falls der Angebotssatz der
LIBOR ist, einfiigen:] [Der LIBOR (London
Interbank  Offered  Rate) ist der im
Interbankenhandel am  Finanzplatz  London
angewendete kurzfristige Referenzzinssatz, zu dem
eine Bank einer anderen kurzfristige Einlagen
iiberlédsst bzw. Geldmarktkredite aufnimmt.] [Falls
der Angebotssatz der [°] ist, einfiigen:] [Der [¢]
ist der [*] Satz fiir [].]

Bildschirmseite bezeichnet die Reuters
Bildschirmseite [Bildschirmseite einfiigen] (die
Bildschirmseite) bzw. andere Bildschirmseite, die
zum Zwecke der Anzeige solcher Angebotssitze als
Nachfolger der Bildschirmseite eingesetzt wurde.

Die Marge betrigt [Marge einfiigen] Prozent per
annum.

Zinsfestsetzungstag bezeichnet den [Relevante
Geschiiftstagdefintion einfiigen].

Geschdiftstag ist [falls der Angebotssatz der
EURIBOR ist, einfiigen:] [ein Tag, an dem das
Trans-European ~Automated Real-Time Gross
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Payment Date]. If any Floating Interest Payment
Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a
Bank Business Day, such Floating Interest Payment
Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a
Bank Business Day unless it would thereby fall into
the next calendar month, in which event the
Floating Interest Payment Date shall be the
immediately preceding Bank Business Day. Each
period from and including the Interest
Commencement Date to but excluding the first
Floating Interest Payment Date and thereafter from
and including each Floating Interest Payment Date
to but excluding the next following Floating Interest
Payment Date is a Floating Interest Period.

Floating Interest Rate for each Floating Interest
Period will be the offered quotation
([EURIBOR][LIBOR][®]) (expressed  as a
percentage rate per annum) for [insert Deposit
Period] deposits in [insert currency] for a period
equal to that Floating Interest Period displayed on
the Screen Page as of 11:00 a.m. ([insert Time
Location] time) on the Interest Determination Date
plus the Margin (as defined below) [, except for the
[first/last] Floating Interest Period, the Floating
Interest Rate will be [insert Relevant Floating
Interest Details] plus the Margin], all as
determined by  the  Calculation  Agent.

[If the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, insert:]
[EURIBOR (European Interbank Offered Rate) is
the interbank money market rate for a week as well
as one to twelve months deposits.] [If the
Reference Rate is LIBOR, insert:] [LIBOR
(London Interbank Offered Rate) is the short term
reference interest rate applied in the interbank trade
in the financial centre London, at which a bank
grants or lends short-term deposits.] [If the
Reference Rate is [¢], insert:] [/¢] is the [] rate for

[*].]

Screen Page means Reuters page [insert Screen
Page] (the Screen Page) or such other screen page
of Reuters or such other information service, which
has been designated as the successor to the Screen
Page for the purpose of displaying such rates.

Margin means [insert Margin] per cent per annum.
Interest Determination Date means the [insert
Relevant Business Day Definition].

Business Day means [if the Reference Rate is

EURIBOR, insert:] [a day on which the Trans-
European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement



Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System
Zahlungen in  Euro abwickelt.][falls der
Angebotssatz der Libor ist, einfiigen:][Ein Tag
(auBer einem Samstag oder Sonntag), an dem
Geschiftsbanken allgemein fiir Geschifte in
London geoffnet sind.] [falls ein anderer
Angebotssatz gilt, einfiigen:][jeder Bankarbeitstag
(wie in § 6(2) definiert).]

Sollte die maBgebliche Bildschirmseite nicht zur
Verfiigung stehen, wird die Berechnungsstelle von
jeder der von ihr bestimmten fiinf Referenzbanken
(wie nachstehend definiert) deren jeweilige
Angebotssitze (jeweils als Prozentsatz per annum
ausgedriickt) fiir einen der betreffenden Variablen
Zinsperiode entsprechenden Zeitraum in [Wahrung
einfiigen] gegeniiber fithrenden Banken im
Interbanken-Markt um ca. 11.00 Uhr am
Zinsfestsetzungstag anfordern. Falls zwei oder mehr
Referenzbanken der Berechnungsstelle solche
Angebotssidtze nennen, ist der Zinssatz fiir die
betreffende Zinsperiode das arithmetische Mittel
(falls erforderlich, auf oder abgerundet auf das
nichste ein Tausendstel Prozent, wobei 0,0005 oder
mehr aufgerundet wird) dieser Angebotssitze
zuziiglich der Marge. Falls der Variable Zinssatz
nicht gemil der oben definierten Bestimmungen
ermittelt werden kann, ist der Zinssatz der
Angebotssatz bzw. das arithmetische Mittel der
Angebotssidtze auf der Bildschirmseite an dem
letzten Tag vor dem Zinsfestsetzungstag, an dem
diese Angebotssitze angezeigt wurden, zuziiglich
der Marge.

Referenzbanken bezeichnet diejenigen Banken,
deren  Angebotssidtze  zur  Ermittlung  des
mafgeblichen Angebotssatzes zu dem Zeitpunkt
benutzt wurden, als solch ein Angebot letztmals auf
der Bildschirmseite angezeigt wurde.

(1b)Die Berechnungsstelle soll zu oder baldmoglichst

nach jedem Zeitpunkt, an dem der Variable Zinssatz
zu bestimmen ist, den auf die
Schuldverschreibungen filligen Zinsbetrag (der
Zinsbetrag) fir die entsprechende Variable
Zinsperiode berechnen. Der Zinsbetrag ergibt sich
aus der Multiplikation des Variablen Zinssatzes mit
dem Zinstagequotient (wie nachstehend definiert)
und dem Nennbetrag je Schuldverschreibung, wobei
der resultierende Betrag auf den nichstliegenden
Cent auf- bzw. abgerundet wird, wobei 0,5 oder
mehr eines Cents aufgerundet werden.

(1c) Die Berechnungsstelle wird veranlassen, dass der

Variable Zinssatz, der Zinsbetrag fiir die jeweilige
Variable Zinsperiode, die jeweilige Variable
Zinsperiode und der relevante  Variable
Zinszahlungstag der Emittentin und, sofern dies von
der  jeweiligen  Borse, an denen  die
Schuldverschreibungen notiert sind, vorgesehen ist,
der jeweiligen Borse sowie den Anleihegliubigern
durch Bekanntmachung gemifl § 13 baldmdglichst,

Express Transfer (TARGET2) System settles
payments in euro.] [if the Reference Rate is Libor,
insert:][A day which is a day (other than a Saturday
or a Sunday) on which commercial banks are
generally open for business in London]. [if another
Reference Rate is applicable, insert:][each Bank
Business Day (as defined in § 6(2)).]

If the Screen Page is not available the Calculation
Agent shall request the five Reference Banks (as
defined below) selected by it to provide the
Calculation Agent with its offered quotation
(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for a
period equal to the relevant Floating Interest Period
in [insert currency] to leading banks in the
interbank market at approximately 11.00 a.m. on the
Interest Determination Date. If two or more of the
selected Reference Banks provide the Calculation
Agent with such offered quotations, the Floating
Interest Rate for such Floating Interest Period shall
be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations
(rounded if necessary to the nearest one thousandth
of a percentage point, with 0.0005 or more being
rounded upwards) plus the Margin. If the Floating
Interest Rate cannot be determined in accordance
with the foregoing provisions, the Floating Interest
Rate shall be the offered quotation or the arithmetic
mean of the offered quotations on the Screen Page
on the last day preceding the Interest Determination
Date on which such quotations were offered, plus
the Margin.

Reference Banks means those banks whose offered
rates were used to determine such quotation when
such quotation last appeared on the Screen Page.

(1b)The Calculation Agent shall, on or as soon as

practicable after each time at which the Floating
Interest Rate is to be determined, determine the
Floating Interest Rate and calculate the amount of
interest (the Interest Amount) payable on the Notes
for the relevant Floating Interest Period. The
Interest Amount shall be calculated by multiplying
the Floating Interest Rate and the Day Count
Fraction (as defined below) with the principal
amount of each Note and rounding the resulting
figure to the nearest cent, with 0.5 or more of a cent
being rounded upwards.

(1c) The Calculation Agent will cause the Floating
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Interest Rate, each Interest Amount for each
Floating Interest Period, each Floating Interest
Period and the relevant Floating Interest Payment
Date to be notified to the Issuer and, if required by
the rules of such stock exchange on which the Notes
are from time to time listed, to such stock exchange,
and to the Holders by notice in accordance with §
13 as soon as possible after their determination, but



aber keinesfalls spdter als zu Beginn der
mafgeblichen nichstfolgenden Variablen
Zinsperiode, bekannt gemacht wird. Im Fall einer
Verldngerung oder Verkiirzung der Variablen
Zinsperiode kann der mitgeteilte Zinsbetrag und
Variable Zinszahlungstag ohne Vorankiindigung
nachtrdglich angepasst (oder andere geeignete
Anpassungsregelungen getroffen) werden. Jede
solche Anpassung wird umgehend allen Borsen, an
denen die Schuldverschreibungen zu diesem
Zeitpunkt notiert sind, sowie den Anleiheglaubigern
gemil § 13 bekannt gemacht.

(1d) Alle Bescheinigungen, Mitteilungen, Gutachten,

2

Festsetzungen, Berechnungen, Quotierungen und
Entscheidungen, die von der Berechnungsstelle fiir
die Zwecke dieses § 4(1) gemacht, abgegeben,
getroffen oder eingeholt werden, sind (sofern nicht
ein offensichtlicher Irrtum vorliegt) fiir die
Emittentin, die Zahlstelle und die Anleihegldaubiger
bindend.]

Ende des  Zinslaufs. Der  Zinslauf der
Schuldverschreibungen endet mit Ablauf des Tages,
der dem Tag vorausgeht, an dem sie zur
Riickzahlung fillig werden. Sollte die Emittentin
die Schuldverschreibungen bei Filligkeit nicht
einlosen, endet die Verpflichtung zur Zahlung von
Zinsen auf den ausstehenden Nennbetrag nicht am
Filligkeitstag gemal § 5 Absatz 1, sondern erst mit
(jedoch ausschliellich) dem Tag der tatsdchlichen
Riickzahlung der Schuldverschreibungen. Die
Verzinsung des ausstehenden Nennbetrages vom
Tag der Filligkeit an (einschlieBlich) bis zum Tag
der Riickzahlung der Schuldverschreibungen
(ausschlieBlich) erfolgt zum gesetzlich gemill §
1000 ABGB festgelegten Satz fiir Verzugszinsen.

Zinstagequotient bezeichnet im Hinblick auf die
Berechnung des Zinsbetrages fiir eine beliebige
[Variable] Zinsperiode oder einen Teil davon (der

Zinsberechnungszeitraum) [im Fall von
Zinstagequotient actual/360 einfiigen:][die
tatsdchliche Anzahl von Tagen im

Zinsberechnungszeitraum dividiert durch 360][im
Fall von Zinstagequotient actual/365 einfiigen:][
die tatsichliche = Anzahl von Tagen im
Zinsberechnungszeitraum dividiert durch 365][im
Fall von Zinstagequotient actual/actual (ICMA)
einfiigen:][die tatsdchliche Anzahl der Tage im
Zinsberechnungszeitraum geteilt durch das Produkt
von (i) der Anzahl der Tage im
Zinsberechnungszeitraum und (ii) der Anzahl der
Zinsberechnungszeitrdume, die {iblicherweise im
Jahr enden][im Fall von Zinstagequotient 30/360
einfiigen:][die tatsichliche Anzahl von Tagen im
Zinsberechnungszeitraum dividiert durch 360 mit
der Maligabe, dass die Anzahl der Tage auf der
Grundlage eines Jahres von 360 Tagen mit zwdlf
Monaten zu 30 Tagen zu ermitteln ist].

(1d) All

@)

35

in no event later than at the beginning of the
immediately following Floating Interest Period.
Each Interest Amount and Floating Interest
Payment Date so notified may subsequently be
amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements
may be made by way of adjustment) without notice
in the event of an extension or shortening of the
Floating Interest Period. Any such amendment will
be promptly notified to any stock exchange on
which the Notes are then listed and to the Holders in
accordance with § 13.

certificates, = communications,  opinions,
determinations,  calculations, quotations and
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the
purposes of the provisions of this § 4(1) by the
Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest
error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agent
and the Holders.]

Cessation of interest payments. The Notes shall
cease to bear interest from the end of the day which
precedes the day on which they are due for
redemption. If the Issuer fails to redeem the Notes
when due in accordance with § 5 paragraph 1, the
obligation to pay interest on the outstanding
principal amount shall continue to accrue beyond
the due date until (but excluding) the date of actual
redemption of the Notes. Interest shall continue to
accrue on the outstanding principal amount from the
due date (inclusive) to the day on which the Notes
are redeemed (exclusive) at the statutory default rate
established by § 1000 ABGB.

Day Count Fraction means, in respect of the
calculation of the Interest Amount for any
[Floating] Interest Period or any part thereof (the
Calculation Period), [in the case of Day Count
Fraction actual/360 insert:][the actual number of
days in the Calculation Period divided by 360][in
the case of Day Count Fraction actual/365
insert:][the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 365][in the case of
Day Count Fraction actual/actual (ICMA)
insert:][the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by the product of (i) the
number of days in the Calculation Period and (ii)
the number of Calculation Periods normally ending
in any year] [in the case of Day Count Fraction
30/360 insert:][the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 360, taking into
account that the number of days shall be calculated
on the basis of a year of 360 days with twelve
months of 30 days each].



§5
Filligkeit, Riickzahlung und Riickkauf

§5
Maturity, Redemption and Repurchase

(1) Fdlligkeit. Die Schuldverschreibungen werden am (1) Maturity. The Notes will be redeemed at their

2

(M

2

[Falligkeitstag einfiigen] (der Fdlligkeitstag) zum
Nennbetrag  zuziiglich  aufgelaufener  Zinsen
zuriickgezahlt, soweit sie nicht vorher
zuriickgezahlt oder gekauft und entwertet worden
sind.

Riickkauf. Die  Emittentin  kann  jederzeit
Schuldverschreibungen auf dem freien Markt oder
anderweitig sowie zu jedem beliebigen Preis
kaufen. Derartig erworbene Schuldverschreibungen
konnen entwertet, gehalten oder wieder verdufBert
werden.

§6
Zahlungen

Zahlung von Kapital und Zinsen. Die Emittentin
verpflichtet sich, Kapital und Zinsen bei Filligkeit
in [Wiahrung einfiigen] zu bezahlen. Derartige
Zahlungen erfolgen, vorbehaltlich geltender
steuerrechtlicher —und  sonstiger  gesetzlicher
Regelungen und Vorschriften, an die Zahlstelle zur
Weiterleitung an das Clearingsystem oder an dessen
Order zur Gutschrift fiir die jeweiligen
Kontoinhaber. Die Zahlung an das Clearingsystem
oder an dessen Order, vorausgesetzt, die
Schuldverschreibungen werden noch durch das
Clearingsystem gehalten, befreit die Emittentin in

Hohe der geleisteten Zahlung von ihren
entsprechenden  Verbindlichkeiten  aus  den
Schuldverschreibungen.

Falligkeitstag  kein Bankarbeitstag. Falls ein

Filligkeitstag fiir die Zahlung von Kapital und/oder
Zinsen kein Bankarbeitstag ist, erfolgt die Zahlung,
wenn nicht in diesen Anleihebedingungen explizit
anders  geregelt, erst am nichstfolgenden
Bankarbeitstag.  Anleihegldubiger sind nicht
berechtigt, eine Zinszahlung oder eine andere
Entschiadigung wegen eines solchen
Zahlungsaufschubs zu verlangen.

Bankarbeitstag ist [ein Tag, der ein Bankarbeitstag
in Osterreich [und] [im Fall der Anwendbarkeit,
Weiteren MaBgeblichen Ort einfiigen] ist und an
dem das Trans-European Automated Real-Time
Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2)
System und die Clearingsysteme Zahlungen in Euro
abwickeln.][im Fall einer anderen Wihrung als
Euro einfiigen:][Ein Tag (aufer einem Samstag
oder Sonntag), an dem Geschéftsbanken allgemein
fir Geschifte in [relevante Finanzzentren
einfiigen] geoffnet sind und Devisenmirkte
Zahlungen in [relevante Finanzzentren einfiigen]
abwickeln.]
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principal amount together with accrued interest on
[insert Redemption Date] (the Redemption Date)
to the extent they have not previously been
redeemed or purchased and cancelled.

Repurchase. The Issuer may at any time purchase
Notes in the open market or otherwise and at any
price. Notes so acquired may be cancelled, held or
resold.

§6

Payments

Payment of Principal and Interest. The Issuer
undertakes to pay, as and when due, principal and
interest payable on the Notes in [insert currency].
Such payments shall, subject to applicable fiscal
and other laws and regulations, be made to the
Paying Agent for on-payment to the Clearing
System or to its order for credit to the respective
account holders. Payments to the Clearing System
or to its order shall, to the extent of amounts so paid
and provided the Notes are still held by the Clearing
System, release the Issuer from its corresponding
obligations under the Notes.

Due Date not a Bank Business Day. If the due date
for any payment of principal and/or interest is not a
Bank Business Day, payment shall be made on the
next following Bank Business Day, unless explicitly
stipulated otherwise in these Terms and Conditions.
Holders shall have no right to claim payment of
interest or other indemnity in respect of such delay
in payment.

Bank Business Day means [a day which is a
banking day in Austria [and][if applicable, insert
Additional Relevant Location] and on which the
Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross
Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System
and the Clearing Systems settle payments in
euro.][in case of another currency than euro,
insert:][A day which is a day (other than a Saturday
or a Sunday) on which commercial banks are
generally open for business in [insert all relevant
financial centers], and foreign exchange markets
settle payments in [insert all relevant financial
centers].]



§7

Steuern

Zinsen in Bezug auf die Schuldverschreibungen
werden ohne Einbehalt oder Abzug von Steuern,
Abgaben,  Festsetzungen oder  behordlichen
Gebiihren jedweder Art (die Steuern) geleistet, die
von der Republik Osterreich oder einer ihrer
Gebietskorperschaften oder Behorden mit der
Befugnis zur Erhebung von Steuern auferlegt,
erhoben, eingezogen, einbehalten oder festgesetzt
werden, es sei denn, ein solcher Einbehalt oder
Abzug ist gesetzlich vorgeschrieben. In einem
solchen Falle wird die Emittentin, vorbehaltlich der
Bestimmungen dieses § 7 solche zusétzlichen
Betridge (die Zusdtzlichen Betrige) zahlen, so dass
die Anleihegldubiger die Betrdge erhalten, die sie
ohne Einbehalt oder Abzug erhalten hitten.

(2) Ausnahme. Solche Zusitzlichen Betrige sind jedoch

nicht zahlbar wegen solcher Steuern:

(i) denen ein Anleihegldubiger wegen einer
anderen Beziehung zur Republik Osterreich
unterliegt als der bloBen Tatsache, dass er der
Inhaber der betreffenden Schuldver-
schreibungen ist; oder

(ii) deren Einbehalt oder Abzug auf eine Zahlung

an eine natiirliche Person erfolgt und zwar auf

der Grundlage der (i) Richtlinie 2003/48/EG
der Europdischen Union oder einer anderen

Richtlinie der Europdischen Union zur

Besteuerung privater Zinsertrige, die die

Beschliisse der ECOFIN-Versammlung vom

26. bis 27. November 2000 umsetzt oder des

EU Quellensteuergesetzes (BGB1 1 2004/33)

oder (ii) ein internationaler Vertrag oder ein

Abkommen betreffend solch einer Besteuerung

und zu welcher die Republik Osterreich oder

die Europdische Union ein Vertragspartner ist
oder (iii) aufgrund eines Gesetzes, das in

Umsetzung oder Entsprechung einer solchen

Richtlinie, Verordnung, Vertrag oder

Abkommen erlassen wurde; oder

(iii) denen der Anleihegldubiger nicht unterlige,
wenn dieser seine Schuldverschreibungen
binnen 30 Tagen nach Filligkeit oder, falls die
notwendigen Betrige der Zahlstelle bei
Filligkeit nicht zur Verfiigung gestellt worden
sind, ab dem Tag, an dem diese Mittel der
Zahlstelle zur Verfiigung gestellt worden sind
und dies gemdBl § 13 bekannt gemacht wurde,
zur Zahlung vorgelegt hitte; oder

(iv) die von einer Zahlstelle einbehalten oder
abgezogen werden, wenn die Zahlung von einer
anderen Zahlstelle in einem Mitgliedsstaat der
Europidischen Union ohne den Einbehalt oder
Abzug hitte vorgenommen werden konnen;
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§7

Taxation

(1) Steuern. Samtliche Zahlungen von Kapital und (1) Taxes. All payments of principal and interest in

respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of,
and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes,
duties, assessments or governmental charges of
whatever nature (Taxes) imposed, levied, collected,
withheld or assessed by the Republic of Austria or
any political subdivision or any authority of or in
the Republic of Austria that has power to tax, unless
the Issuer is compelled by a law or other regulation
to make such withholding or deduction. In that
event, the Issuer will pay, subject to the provisions
of this § 7, such additional amounts (the Additional
Amounts) as will result in receipt by the Holders of
the same amounts as they would have received if no
such withholding or deduction had been required.

Exception. However, no such Additional Amounts
shall be payable with respect to such Taxes:

to which a Holder is liable because of a
relationship with the Republic of Austria other
than the mere fact of him being the holder of
the relevant Notes; or

@

(i) in respect of which such withholding or
deduction is imposed on a payment to an
individual and is required to be made pursuant
to (i) European Council Directive 2003/48/EC
or any other European Union Directive
implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN
Council meeting of 26 to 27 November 2000 on
the taxation of savings income, or the EU
Withholding Tax Act (EU Quellensteuergesetz,
BGBI 1 2004/33), or, (ii) any international
treaty or understanding relating to such taxation
and to which the Republic of Austria or the
European Union is a party, or (iii) any law
implementing or complying with, or introduced
in order to conform to, such Directive,
Regulation, treaty or understanding; or

(iii) to which the Holder would not be subject to if
he had presented his Notes for payment within
30 days from the due date for payment, or, if
the necessary funds have not been provided to
the Paying Agent when due, from the date on
which such funds have been provided to the
Paying Agent, and a notice to that effect has
been published in accordance with § 13; or

(iv) which are withheld or deducted by a Paying
Agent if payment could have been made by
another Paying Agent in a Member State of the
European Union without such deduction or



3)

(D

oder
(v) die von einer Depotbank oder einer als
Inkassobeauftragten des  Anleihegldubigers
handelnden Person einbehalten werden oder auf
andere Weise zu entrichten sind als dadurch,
dass die Emittentin aus den von ihr zu
leistenden Zahlungen von Kapital oder Zinsen
einen Abzug oder Einbehalt vornimmt.

Die osterreichische Kapitalertragsteuer, unabhéngig
davon, ob auf Zinszahlungen oder VerduBerungs-
gewinne erhoben, ist keine Steuer, fiir die seitens
der Emittentin Zusitzliche Betrige zu bezahlen
sind.

Eine Bezugnahme in diesen Anleihebedingungen
auf Kapital oder Zinsen schlieft jegliche
Zusitzlichen Betridge im Hinblick auf Kapital oder
Zinsen ein, die gemil diesem § 7 zahlbar sind.

§8
Kiindigungsgriinde und Riickzahlung
Kiindigungsgriinde. Anleihegldubiger sind
berechtigt, ihre  Schuldverschreibungen  zur

sofortigen Riickzahlung fillig zu stellen und deren
sofortige Riickzahlung zum Nennbetrag zuziiglich
aufgelaufener Zinsen durch Abgabe einer
Kiindigungserkldrung (eine Kiindigungserklirung)
gegeniiber der Emittentin und der Zahlstelle zu

verlangen, falls einer der folgenden
Kiindigungsgriinde vorliegt (jeweils ein
Kiindigungsgrund):

(a) Nichtzahlung: die Emittentin versiumt es,
Kapital oder Zinsen oder sonstige nach § 7 auf
die Schuldverschreibungen zahlbare Betrige
nicht innerhalb von 7 Geschéftstagen (wie in §
8(1)(h)(ii)) nachstehend definiert) nach dem
betreffenden Filligkeitsdatum zu zahlen; oder

(b) Verletzung anderer Verpflichtungen: wenn die

Emittentin eine oder mehrere ihrer anderen

Verpflichtungen aus den Schuld-

verschreibungen nicht erfiillt und dieser

Zustand nicht innerhalb von 30 Tagen,

nachdem die Emittentin und die Zahlstelle eine

diesbeziigliche Mitteilung durch den

Anleihegldubiger in der in § 8(3) festgelegten

Art erhalten haben, behoben wird; oder

(c) Drittverzug: tritt ein, wenn (i) eine bestehende

oder zukiinftige Zahlungsverpflichtung der

Emittentin im Zusammenhang mit einer Kredit-

oder sonstigen Geldaufnahme infolge -einer

Nichtleistung (unabhingig davon, wie eine

solche definiert ist) vorzeitig fillig wird, oder

(ii)) eine solche Zahlungsverpflichtung bei

Filligkeit oder nach Ablauf einer etwaigen

Nachfrist nicht erfiillt wird, oder (iii) die
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withholding; or
(v) which are withheld by a securities custodian or
a person acting as collection agent for the
Holder or which are levied otherwise than by
the Issuer making a withholding or deduction
from any amounts of principal or interest
payable by it.

Austrian withholding tax (Kapitalertragsteuer),
irrespective of whether levied on interest payments
or capital gains, does not constitute tax for which
the Issuer is obliged to pay Additional Amounts.

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to
principal or interest will be deemed to include any
Additional Amounts in respect of principal or
interest (as the case may be) which are payable
under this § 7.

§8
Events of Default and Redemption

Events of Default. Holders shall be entitled to
declare the Notes to be immediately due and
repayable and to demand their immediate
redemption at their principal amount together with
accrued interest by giving notice of default (a
Default Notice) to the Issuer and the Paying Agent,
if any of the following events (each an Event of
Default) occurs:

(a) Non-Payment: the Issuer fails to pay any
principal or interest or any other amounts due
pursuant to § 7 on any of the Notes when due
and such failure continues for a period of 7
Business Days (as defined in § 8(1)(h)(ii)
below) after the relevant due date; or

(b) Breach of Other Obligations: if the Issuer does

not perform or comply with any one or more of

its other obligations under the Notes and such
default is not remedied within 30 days after the

Issuer and the Paying Agent have received

notice thereof from a Holder, such notice being

substantially in the form as specified in § 8(3);

or

(c) Cross-Default: shall occur if (i) any present or
future payment obligation of the Issuer in
respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes
due and payable prior to its stated maturity for
reason of the occurrence of a default
(howsoever defined), or (ii) any such payment
obligation is not met when due or, as the case
may be, within an applicable grace period, or

(iii) any amounts due under any present or



(d)

(e)
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Emittentin einen Betrag, der unter einer
bestehenden oder zukiinftigen Garantie oder
Gewihrleistung im Zusammenhang mit einer
Kredit- oder sonstigen Geldaufnahme zur
Zahlung fillig wird, bei Filligkeit oder nach
Ablauf einer etwaigen Nachfrist nicht zahlt,
vorausgesetzt, dass der Gesamtbetrag der
betreffenden Zahlungsverpflichtungen,
Garantien oder Gewihrleistungen, beziiglich
derer eines oder mehrere der in diesem
Unterabsatz (c) genannten Ereignisse eintritt,
mindestens dem Betrag von EUR 10,000,000
oder dessen Gegenwert in einer anderen
Wihrung entspricht oder diesen {iibersteigt (ein
Drittverzugsereignis); nach Eintritt eines
Drittverzugsereignisses wird die Emittentin
innerhalb von 5 Tagen, oder die Zahlstelle nach
Kenntnis vom Eintritt eines
Drittverzugsereignisses, eine Mitteilung gemél
§ 13 veroffentlichen,  woraufhin  ein
Anleihegldaubiger eine Kiindigungserklirung
gemdfl § 8(3) an die Emittentin und die
Zahlstelle iibermitteln kann; eine
Kiindigungserklarung wird wirksam, sofern das
Drittverzugsereignis nicht innerhalb von 30
Tagen nach Veroffentlichung der Mitteilung
des Eintrittes des Drittverzugsereignisses
geheilt wird, worauthin die Emittentin
unmittelbar eine Mitteilung gemdB § 13 iiber
die Heilung des Drittverzugsereignisses
veroffentlichen soll; dieser § 8(1)(c) ist jedoch
nicht anwendbar, wenn die Emittentin ihre
betreffenden Zahlungsverpflichtungen in gutem
Glauben bestreitet; oder

Einstellung von Zahlungen: die Emittentin oder
eine Wesentliche Konzerngesellschaft stellt
ihre Zahlungen allgemein ein oder gibt ihre
Unfédhigkeit  bekannt, ihre finanziellen
Verpflichtungen zu erfiillen; oder

Insolvenz: ein zustdndiges Gericht erdffnet ein
Insolvenzverfahren gegen die Emittentin oder
eine Wesentliche Konzerngesellschaft und ein
solches Verfahren ist nicht innerhalb von 60
Tagen aufgehoben oder ausgesetzt worden,
oder die Emittentin oder eine Wesentliche
Konzerngesellschaft beantragt die Einleitung
eines solchen Verfahrens, oder der Antrag auf
Einleitung eines solchen Verfahrens wurde
gestellt, aber von dem zustindigen Gericht
mangels Masse abgelehnt, oder die Emittentin
oder eine Wesentliche Konzerngesellschaft
trifft eine allgemeine Schuldregelung zu
Gunsten ihrer Gldubiger oder bietet diese an;
oder

Liquidation:  die  Emittentin oder eine
Wesentliche Konzerngesellschaft wird
liquidiert, es sei denn, (i) dies geschieht im
Zusammenhang mit einer Verschmelzung, einer
anderen Form des Zusammenschlusses oder im
Zusammenhang mit einer anderen
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(d)

(e

®

future guarantee or warranty by the Issuer for
moneys borrowed or raised are not paid when
due or, as the case may be, within an applicable
grace period, provided that the relevant
aggregate amount of the payment obligation,
guarantee or warranty in respect of which one
or more of the events mentioned in this
subsection (c) has or have occurred equals or
exceeds EUR 10,000,000 or its equivalent in
any other currency (a Cross Default Event),
upon the occurrence of a Cross-Default Event,
the Issuer shall publish a notice in accordance
with § 13 within 5 days of the occurrence of a
Cross Default Event or the Paying Agent upon
knowledge of the occurrence of a Cross Default
Event, in which case a Holder may file a
Default Notice in accordance with § 8(3) with
the Issuer and the Paying Agent; such Default
Notice shall become effective unless the
respective Cross Default Event ceases to exist
within 30 days following the publication of the
occurrence of such Cross Default Event, in
which case the Issuer shall immediately publish
a notice to such effect in accordance with § 13;
provided however, that this § 8(1)(c) shall not
apply where the Issuer contests its relevant
payment obligation in good faith; or

Suspension of Payments: the Issuer or a
Material Subsidiary suspends its payments
generally or announces its inability to meet its
financial obligations; or

Insolvency: any competent court institutes
insolvency proceedings against the Issuer or a
Material Subsidiary and such proceedings have
not been discharged or stayed within 60 days,
or the Issuer or a Material Subsidiary applies
for the institution of such proceedings or an
application for the institution of such
proceedings has been filed but rejected by the
competent court for lack of assets, or the Issuer
or a Material Subsidiary offers or makes a
general arrangement for the benefit of its
creditors; or

Liquidation: the Issuer or a Material Subsidiary
is liquidated, except (i) in connection with a
merger, reorganization or other form of
combination with another company or in
connection with another reconstruction, (ii)
such other or new company assumes or, as the



(@

(h)

Umstrukturierung, (ii) die andere oder neue
Gesellschaft iibernimmt oder gegebenenfalls
die anderen oder neuen Gesellschaften
iibernehmen im Wesentlichen alle Aktiva der
Emittentin oder der Wesentlichen Konzern-
gesellschaft, und (iii) im Fall einer Liquidation
(x) der Emittentin iibernimmt die andere oder
neue Gesellschaft oder iibernehmen die anderen
oder neuen Gesellschaften alle Verpflichtungen
aus diesen Schuldverschreibungen, oder (y)
einer Wesentlichen Konzerngesellschaft
handelt es sich bei der anderen oder neuen
Gesellschaft oder den anderen oder neuen
Gesellschaften um eine direkte oder indirekte
Konzerngesellschaft der Emittentin; oder

Einstellung  der  Geschidftstitigkeit:  die
Emittentin oder eine Wesentliche
Konzerngesellschaft stellt ihre

Geschiftstitigkeit ganz oder iiberwiegend ein,
aufler im Zusammenhang mit oder als Ergebnis
einer Erlaubten Reorganisation. Zu diesem
Zweck wird Erlaubte Reorganisation definiert
als Verschmelzung, Umgriindung (im Sinne des
osterreichischen Umgriindungssteuergesetzes)

oder eine andere Form des
Zusammenschlusses, wonach: (i) im Fall einer
Einstellung  der  Geschéftstitigkeit — der
Emittentin (x) die Verpflichtungen der

Emittentin aus den Schuldverschreibungen von
einer Nachfolgegesellschaft der Emittentin
iibernommen werden, auf welche alle Rechte
und Vermogenswerte der Emittentin im
Wesentlichen anteilig zu den iibernommenen
Verbindlichkeiten iibergehen, und (y) eine
solche Nachfolgegesellschaft keine anderen

wesentlichen Verpflichtungen oder
Verbindlichkeiten iibernimmt, ohne dass sie
gleichzeitig andere Rechte und

Vermogenswerte im gleichen Verhéltnis und
auf gleiche Weise wie vorstehend in (x)
beschrieben iibernimmt, und (z) die Erlaubte
Reorganisation auf die Anleihegldubiger keine
erheblich nachteiligen Auswirkungen hat; oder
(i1)) im Fall einer Einstellung der Geschifts-
titigkeit  einer  Wesentlichen = Konzern-
gesellschaft die Erlaubte Reorganisation auf die
Anleihegldubiger keine erheblich nachteiligen
Auswirkungen hat.

Kontrollwechsel:

(i) Die Anleihegldubiger haben wihrend der
Zeit vom Ausgabetag bis 140 Tage vor dem
Filligkeitstag das Recht, die Riickzahlung
der  Schuldverschreibungen von der
Emittentin zu verlangen, wenn ein
Kontrollwechselereignis (wie nachstehend
definiert) eintritt (das Verkaufsrecht).

Falls ein Verkaufsrecht als eingetreten gilt,
ist jeder Anleihegldubiger berechtigt, von

(2)
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case may be, companies assume substantially
all of the assets of the Issuer or the Material
Subsidiary, and (iii) in case of a liquidation of
(x) the Issuer, such other or new company
assumes or, as the case may be, companies
assume all liabilities and obligations of the
Issuer under these Notes, or (y) a Material
Subsidiary, such other or new company is or, as
the case may be, companies are direct or
indirect subsidiaries of the Issuer; or

Cessation of Business Operations: the Issuer or
a Material Subsidiary ceases to carry on all or a
material part of its current business or
operations, except as a result of or in
connection with a Permitted Reorganization.
For the purpose of the foregoing a Permitted
Reorganization means a merger, reconstruction

(within the meaning of the Austrian
Reorganization Tax Act (Um-
griindungssteuergesetz) or other form of

combination, whereupon: (i) in case of a
cessation of business operations by the Issuer
(x) the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes
will be assumed by a succeeding company to
which all rights and assets of the Issuer shall be
transferred together with an equal portion of the
assumed obligations, and (y) such succeeding
company shall not assume any other material
obligation or liability without at the same time
assuming other rights and assets proportionate
thereto and in the same manner as mentioned in
(x) above, and (z) the Permitted Reorganization
has no material adverse effect on the Holders;
or (ii) in case of a cessation of business
operations by the Material Subsidiary the
Permitted Reorganization has no material
adverse effect on the Holders.

Change of Control:

(i) The Holders shall be entitled during the
period from the Issue Date up to 140 days
prior to the Redemption Date to require the
redemption of the Notes upon occurrence
of a Change of Control Event (as defined
below) (the Put Event).

If a Put Event is deemed to have occurred,
then each Holder is entitled to require the



(ii)

der Emittentin die Riickzahlung oder den
Riickkauf (nach Wahl der Emittentin) der
Schuldverschreibungen zum Verkaufs-
betrag (wie nachstehend definiert) am Ver-
kaufstag (wie nachstehend definiert) zu
verlangen.

Unverziiglich ~ nach Eintritt  eines
Verkaufsrechts ist die  Emittentin
verpflichtet, den Anleihegldubigern den
Eintritt eines Verkaufsrechts gemidfl § 13
mitzuteilen (Verkaufsrechtsmitteilung)
und iiber die Art des Verkaufsrechts sowie
den Ablauf der Ausiibung des Verkaufs-
rechts gemal diesem § 8(h) zu informieren.

In diesem § 8(h) haben die folgenden
Begriffe nachstehende Bedeutung:

Geschiiftstag bezeichnet einen Tag (auller
einen Samstag oder einen Sonntag) an dem
die Banken in Wien zum Geschéftsbetrieb
geoffnet sind;

Ein Kontrollwechselereignis  gilt als
eingetreten, wenn eine oder mehrere
gemeinsam vorgehende Personen oder eine
Drittperson oder Personen, welche im
Namen einer solchen Person oder solcher
Personen handeln (die Relevante Person),
zu irgendeiner Zeit direkt oder indirekt eine
kontrollierende Beteiligung im Sinne des
osterreichischen Ubernahmegesetzes
erwerben, wodurch ein Pflichtangebot
ausgelost wird (ein Kontrollwechsel) und
die Emittentin innerhalb der
Kontrollwechselperiode (wie nachstehend
definiert) kein Investment Grade Rating
(wie nachstehend definiert) fiir die
Schuldverschreibungen erlangt;

Investment Grade Rating bezeichnet ein
Rating von zumindest Baa3 von Moody’s
Investors Services, einer Unternehmung der
Moody’s  Corporation  (oder  jeder
Rechtsnachfolgerin) oder von zumindest
BBB- von Standard & Poor’s Financial
Services LLC, einer Unternehmung der The
McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. (oder jeder
Rechtsnachfolgerin);

Kontrollwechselperiode bezeichnet die
Periode, welche 90 Tage nach Eintritt eines
Kontrollwechsels endet;

Verkaufsbetrag bedeutet hinsichtlich jeder
Schuldverschreibung einen Betrag, der der

Summe aus:

(a) 101% des Nennbetrags; und
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(i)

Issuer to redeem or repurchase (at the
option of the Issuer) the Notes at the Put
Amount (as defined below) on the Put Date
(as defined below).

Promptly upon the occurrence of a Put
Event, the Issuer shall give notice (a Put
Event Notice) to the Holders in accordance
with § 13 specifying the nature of the Put
Event and the procedure for exercising the
option pursuant to this § 8(h).

In this § 8(h), the terms below shall have
the following meaning:

Business Day means a day (other than a
Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are
open for business in Vienna;

A Change of Control Event shall be
deemed to have occurred if any person or
any persons acting in concert or any third
person or persons acting on behalf of any
such person(s) (the Relevant Person) at any
time directly or indirectly acquire(s) a
controlling participation pursuant to the
Austrian Takeover Act (Ubernahmegesetz)
which triggers a mandatory takeover bid (a
Change of Control) and if the Issuer does
not within the Change of Control Period (as
defined below) obtain at least an
Investment Grade Rating (as defined
below) for the Notes;

Investment Grade Rating means a credit
rating of at least Baa3 by Moody’s
Investors Services, a division of Moody’s
Corporation (or any successor entity) or of
at least BBB- by Standard & Poor’s
Financial Services LLC, a subsidiary of
The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. (or any
successor entity).

Change of Control Period means the
period ending 90 days after the occurrence
of a Change of Control;

Put Amount means in respect of any Note
an amount equal to:

(a) 101% of the principal amount; and
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3)

4)

(b) den bis zum Verkaufstag
aufgelaufenen Zinsen (oder, falls
gekauft, ein Betrag der diesen Zinsen
entspricht);

entspricht.

Verkaufstag bezeichnet den Tag, an dem
die Verkaufsperiode (wie nachstehend
definiert) endet;

Um die Option der Riickzahlung oder des
Kaufes der Schuldverschreibung gemif
diesem § 8(h) auszuilben, muss der
Anleihegldubiger innerhalb von 45 Tagen
nach Verkaufsrechtsmitteilung (die
Verkaufsperiode) eine unterfertigte
Mitteilung iiber die Ausiibung der Option
(eine Verkaufsmitteilung) abgeben. Eine
abgegebene Verkaufsmitteilung ist
unwiderruflich.

Wesentliche Konzerngesellschaft im Sinne
dieses § 8 bezeichnet ein
Konzernunternehmen (iSd § 15 AktG) der
Emittentin, dessen konsolidierter Umsatz
mit von der Emittentin nicht konsolidierten
Personen im letzten Geschiftsjahr mehr als
10% des konsolidierten Konzernumsatzes
der Emittentin erreicht.

Erloschen des Kiindigungsrechts. Das
Kiindigungsrecht erlischt, falls der
Kiindigungsgrund vor Ausiibung des Rechts geheilt
wurde.

Kiindigungserkldrung. Eine Kiindigung nach Absatz
(1) erfolgt durch eine gegeniiber der Emittentin und
der Zahlstelle personlich abzugebende oder per
Einschreiben zu iibermittelnde schriftliche Er-
kldarung unter Angabe eines Bankkontos, auf das
Zahlungen gemil diesem § 8 zu leisten sind,
zusammen mit dem Nachweis durch eine Be-
scheinigung der Depotbank des Anleihegldubigers,
dass dieser im Zeitpunkt der Kiindigung Inhaber der
betreffenden Schuldverschreibungen ist.

Quorum. Das Kiindigungsrecht erlischt, falls der
Kiindigungsgrund vor wirksamer Ausiibung des
Rechts nach diesem Absatz geheilt wurde. Im Fall
von Unterabsatz (h) des Absatzes (1) wird eine
Kiindigung, sofern nicht zugleich einer der in den
Unterabsitzen (a), (b), (¢), (d), (e), (f) oder (g) des
Absatzes (1) bezeichneten Kiindigungsgriinde
vorliegt, erst wirksam, wenn bei der Zahlstelle
Kiindigungserkldarungen von Anleihegldubigern im
Nennbetrag von mindestens 10% der dann
ausstehenden Schuldverschreibungen eingegangen
sind. In allen anderen Fillen wird die Kiindigung
mit Zugang der Mitteilung der Kiindigung geméil
Absatz (3) wirksam.
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(b) any interest (or, where purchased, an
amount equal to such interest) accrued
up to the Put Date.

Put Date means the day on which the
Change of Put Period (as defined below)
ends;

To exercise the option to require
redemption or repurchase of a Note under
this § 8(h), the Holder must deliver a
signed notice of exercise (a Put Notice)
within 45 days after a Put Event Notice (the
Put Period) is given. A Put Notice, once
given, shall be irrevocable.

Material Subsidiary pursuant to this § 8
means a subsidiary (in the sense of § 15
Austrian Stock Corporation Act) of the
Issuer, the consolidated turnover with
persons not consolidated by the Issuer of
which in the preceding business year
exceeded 10% of the Issuer’s consolidated
turnover.

Lapse of redemption right. The right to declare
Notes due shall lapse if the Event of Default has
been cured before the right is validly exercised.

Default Notice. Any Default Notice in accordance
with subparagraph (1) shall be made by means of a
written notice delivered by hand or registered mail
to the Issuer and the Paying Agent, specifying a
bank account to which payments are to be made
under this § 8, together with evidence by means of a
certificate of the Holder’s depository bank that such
Holder at the time of such written notice is the
holder of the relevant Notes.

Quorum. The right to declare Notes due shall
terminate if the situation giving rise to it has been
cured before the right is exercised. In the event
specified in subparagraph (h) of paragraph (1), any
notice declaring Notes due shall, unless at the time
such notice is received any of the events specified in
subparagraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f) or (g) of
paragraph (1) entitling Holders to declare their
Notes due has occurred, become effective only
when the Paying Agent has received such notices
from the Holders of at least 10% in the principal
amount of Notes then outstanding. Otherwise the
notice declaring Notes due shall become effective
upon receipt of the notice pursuant to paragraph (3).



Riickzahlung aus einem Steuerereignis. Bei Eintritt
eines Steuerereignisses (wie unten definiert) ist die
Emittentin berechtigt, die Schuldverschreibungen
(zur Ginze aber nicht teilweise) jederzeit zum
Nennbetrag der Schuldverschreibung zuziiglich den
bis zum Datum der Riickzahlung aufgelaufenen
Zinsen mit unwiderruflicher Kiindigungsmitteilung
an die Anleihegliubiger gemidfl § 13 unter
Einhaltung einer Frist von nicht weniger als 30 und
nicht mehr als 60 Tagen zu kiindigen.

Ein Steuerereignis liegt vor, wenn ein Gutachten
eines angesehenen unabhingigen Steuerberaters der
Emittentin iibergeben wird, aus dem hervorgeht,
dass am oder nach dem Ausgabetag, als Folge von:

(i) einer Anderung oder Erginzung der Gesetze
(oder von aufgrund dieser Gesetze erlassener
Bestimmungen oder Vorschriften) der Republik
Osterreich oder einer ihrer Gebietskorper-
schaften oder Steuerbehorden, die an oder nach
dem Ausgabetag erlassen, verkiindet oder
wirksam wird; oder

einer Anderung oder Erginzung der offiziellen
Auslegung solcher Gesetze oder Vorschriften
durch eine gesetzgebende Korperschaft, ein
Gericht, eine Regierungsstelle oder eine
Aufsichtsbehorde (einschlieBlich des Erlasses
von Gesetzen sowie der Bekanntmachung
gerichtlicher oder aufsichtsrechtlicher Ent-
scheidungen), die an oder nach dem
Ausgabetag erlassen, verkiindet oder wirksam
wird, oder

(i)

(iii) einer allgemein anwendbaren offiziellen
Auslegung oder Verkiindung, die an oder nach
dem Ausgabetag erlassen oder verkiindet wird,
und nach der die Rechtslage im Hinblick auf
diese Gesetze oder Vorschriften von der
frilheren allgemein anerkannten Rechtslage
abweicht, Vergiitungen, die von der Emittentin
in Bezug auf die Schuldverschreibungen
zahlbar sind, von der Emittentin fiir die Zwecke
der osterreichischen Ertragssteuern
(insbesondere fiir Zwecke der Korperschafts-
steuer) nicht mehr in mindestens demselben
Umfang wie bei der Begebung der Schuldver-
schreibungen abzugsfihig sind, bzw. innerhalb
von 90 Tagen nach dem Datum dieses Gut-
achtens nicht mehr abzugsfihig sein werden;
und die Emittentin dieses Risiko nicht durch
das Ergreifen zumutbarer MaBnahmen ver-
meiden kann.

[Falls die Emittentin das Wahlrecht hat, die
Schuldverschreibungen vorzeitig zuriick-
zuzahlen, einfiigen:

(6) Vorzeitige Riickzahlung nach Wahl der Emittentin.

(5) Kiindigungsrecht der Emittentin und vorzeitige (5) Issuer Call Right and Early Redemption due to a

Tax Event. If a Tax Event (as defined below)
occurs, the Issuer may call and redeem the Notes (in
whole but not in part) at any time at the principal
amount of the Notes, plus accrued interest until the
date of redemption upon giving not less than 30 and
not more than 60 days’ irrevocable notice to the
Holders in accordance with § 13.

A Tax Event shall occur if an opinion by an
independent tax counsel of recognized standing is
delivered to the Issuer, stating that on or after the
Issue Date, as a result of:

(i) any amendment to, or change in, the laws (or
any rules or regulations thereunder) of th